

County of Santa Cruz Health Services Agency Environmental Health Division 701 Ocean Street, Room 312 Santa Cruz, CA 95060 (831) 454-2022 Fax (831) 454-3128 <u>https://www.scceh.org/</u>

<u>AGENDA</u>

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY WATER ADVISORY COMMISSION Wednesday December 1, 2021, 4pm Microsoft Teams Meeting:

Please see information on meeting access and procedures on the page 3 of the Packet.

A. <u>OPENING</u>

- 1. Call to Order
- 2. Roll Call
- 3. AB 361 Compliance, authorizing teleconference meeting

B. <u>APPROVAL OF MINUTES:</u> October 6, 2021

C. <u>PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS</u>

Opportunity for members of the public to address the Commission on matters that are within the Commission's area of responsibility, but not on today's agenda.

D. <u>COMMISSIONERS' REPORTS</u>

Opportunity for Commissioners to report on matters that are not on today's agenda.

E. <u>STAFF REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS</u>

F. <u>NEW BUSINESS</u>

- 1. <u>Draft Annual Water Resources Status Report</u> Provide comments to staff on the draft document
- <u>SB 552 compliance</u> Consider taking action to approve the staff recommendation that the WAC serve as an alternative to the required Drought Task Force and form an advisory committee to develop the process.

G. UNFINISHED BUSINESS and UPDATES

- 3. <u>WAC Workplan Subcommittee Update</u> Provide final comments to the Subcommittee on the Draft WAC Workplan for adoption at the February 2022 WAC meeting.
- 4. Pajaro Valley Groundwater Management
- 5. Santa Margarita Groundwater Management
- 6. Mid-County Groundwater Management
- 7. Coordination with Other Commissions

H. <u>CORRESPONDENCE</u> None

I. BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ACTION ON ITEMS AFFECTING WATER:

October 19. 2021

51. DOC-2021-886 : Approve agreement with Balance Hydrologics Inc., for a maximum amount of \$82,917, for groundwater and streamflow monitoring, and take related actions, as recommended by the Director of Health Services Approved By Consent Vote [Unanimous]

Agenda Item Board Memo

a. Contract 22H0124 Balance Hydrologics, Inc. (eSign)

ADM 29 22H0124

November 9, 2021

40. DOC-2021-936 : Authorize the Chair to execute agreement regarding interim administrative and legal services for the Pajaro Regional Flood Management Agency between the County of Santa Cruz, the City of Watsonville, the Monterey County Water Resources Agency, the Santa Cruz County Flood Control and Water Conservation District (Zone 7), and the Pajaro Regional Flood Management Agency, as recommended by the Deputy CAO/Director of Public Works Approved By Consent Vote [Unanimous]

Agenda Item Board Memo

J. <u>ITEMS OF INTEREST</u>

Santa Cruz Sentinel "Conservation ethic allows Monterey Bay farmers to thrive during drought" <u>https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2021/11/08/conservation-ethic-allows-monterey-bay-farmers-to-thrive-during-drought/</u>

Santa Cruz Sentinel "USGS report shows progress in Valley's fight to save its water basin" <u>https://santacruzsentinel-ca-app.newsmemory.com/?publink=342910903_1345fc9</u>

My Scotts Valley "Groundwater Sustainability Plan for Scotts Valley, San Lorenzo Valley adopted" https://myscottsvalley.com/groundwater-sustainability-plan-for-scotts-valley-san-lorenzo-valley-adopted/

Santa Cruz Sentinel "State awards San Lorenzo Valley Water District \$3.2 million to provide some Big Basin customers relief" https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2021/11/10/state-awards-san-lorenzo-valley-water-district-3-2-million-to-provide-some-big-basin-customers-relief/

Santa Cruz Sentinel "Main Beach's notorious lagoon about to get an upgrade" https://www.santacruzsentinel.com/2021/11/21/main-beachs-notorious-lagoon-about-to-get-an-upgrade/

K. <u>AGENDA ITEMS FOR FUTURE MEETINGS</u>

- 1. Relationship between growth and water demand.
- 2. Presentation about the Regional Water Management Foundation.
- 3. Groundwater Sustainability Agencies

L. <u>ADJOURNMENT</u>

PLEASE CONTACT SIERRA RYAN (831) 345-5202, IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THIS MEETING

Commissioner and Public Participation Information and Guidelines

Based on guidance from the California Department of Public Health, the California Governor's Office, and Santa Cruz County Health Officer, in order to minimize the spread of the COVID-19 virus, this meeting will be held virtually. You will NOT be able to attend the meeting in person.

The public may conference into the meeting by clicking the link below or calling in (audio only) using the Conference ID:

Click here to join the meeting

If you are asked to join in the Teams with an application, click on "No thanks" and open in the browser. You should not need to download the application to join the meeting.

Or call in (audio only) +1 916-318-9542 Phone Conference ID: 891 228 346# United States, Sacramento

- Once in the meeting, please mute your microphone when you are not speaking.
- If disruptive sound is coming from your device/phone line, the moderator will mute your device and you will have to unmute yourself to participate.
- If you are dialing in by phone, press *9 to raise your hand and *6 to unmute yourself.

Commissioners are expected to join with a video camera. Public attendees may choose to have their cameras on or off.

Please join the meeting a few minutes BEFORE 4:00 pm so that we can start at 4:00 pm. Staff will open the video conference at 3:50 pm. Feel free to chat and say hello before 4:00 pm.

Meeting Roles and Rules:

- All meeting attendees should keep their microphones on mute unless they are speaking.
- Brian Lockwood, Chair, will lead the meeting. Chair Lockwood will announce each agenda item, identify who will be leading an item and introduce discussion and public comment periods.
- Sierra Ryan, staff, will assist with roll call, note taking, and tracking who wants to speak. Please allow time for staff to make notes about any decisions. Sierra will monitor her email during the meeting.
- There will be a public comment period for each item and the Chair will invite the public to participate at the appropriate time.
- During a discussion, if 2 or more people speak at the same time, please defer to the person who speaks first. In any moment where we have some confusion due to multiple people wanting to speak, please pause and let the Chair take the lead. The Chair will call on someone to speak. Also please "raise your hand" to speak by clicking on the hand symbol in the upper right.
- If you are having any trouble joining you can send a message to Sierra (email <u>sierra.ryan@santacruzcounty.us</u> or text 831-345-5202.) There will be a public comment period for each item. You can also contact Sierra on technical issues.



County of Santa Cruz Health Services Agency Water Advisory Commission 701 Ocean Street, Room 312 ❖ Santa Cruz, CA 95060 (831) 454-3133 <u>https://www.scceh.org/</u>

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY WATER ADVISORY COMMISSION'S FINDINGS PURSUANT TO ASSEMBLY BILL 361 AUTHORIZING TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS AS A RESULT OF THE CONTINUING COVID-19 PANDEMIC STATE OF EMERGENCY AND HEALTH OFFICER RECOMMENDATION FOR SOCIAL DISTANCING

WHEREAS, The Water Advisory Commission is a legislative body under the Brown Act as defined under Cal. Gov. Code section 54952(b) and Santa Cruz County Code Section 2.38.110; and

WHEREAS, on September 16, 2021, Governor Newsom signed Assembly Bill 361 ("AB 361"), urgency legislation effective immediately, that amended Government Code section 54953 to permit legislative bodies subject to the Brown Act to continue to meet under modified teleconferencing rules provided that they comply with specific requirements set forth in the statute; and,

WHEREAS, pursuant to AB 361 and Cal. Gov. Code section 54953(e)(1)(A), a legislative body may meet under the modified teleconferencing rules during a proclaimed state of emergency, and where local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing; and

WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, Governor Newsom issued a Proclamation of State of Emergency in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and which remains in effect; and

WHEREAS, on September 30, 2021, Santa Cruz County Public Health Officer Dr. Gail Newel strongly recommended that legislative bodies in Santa Cruz County continue to engage in physical/social distancing by meeting via teleconference as allowed by AB 361 and confirmed that she will regularly review and reconsider this recommendation and notify the public when it is no longer recommended; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to AB 361 and Cal. Gov. Code section 54953(e)(3), within 30 days of the date the legislative body first holding a teleconferenced meeting under the modified rules, and every 30 days thereafter, a legislative body can continue to hold such teleconference meetings provided it has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency and determined either that the state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person or that local officials continue to recommend measures to promote social distancing; and

WHEREAS, on December 1, 2021, the Water Advisory Commission intends to hold its initial teleconference meeting under AB 361; and

WHEREAS, this the Water Advisory Commission has reconsidered the circumstances of the current state of emergency and finds that the COVID-19 pandemic continues to directly impact the ability of members of the public to participate safely in person and further finds that the Santa Cruz County Public Health Officer continues to recommend measures to promote social distancing; and

WHEREAS, in the interest of public health and safety, and due to the emergency caused by the spread of COVID-19, the Water Advisory commission deems it necessary to utilize the modified teleconferencing rules set forth in AB 361;

NOW, THEREFORE, the Water Advisory Commission makings the following findings by a majority vote:

Section 1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct, and adopted as findings of the Water Advisory Commission.

Section 2. Effective immediately, and for the next 30 days, the Water Advisory Commission will meet via teleconference as authorized under AB 361 and Government Code section 54953(e)(3).

Section 3. No later than thirty (30) days from making today's findings, or at the next scheduled meeting, the Commission will reconsider the circumstances of the COVID-19 state of emergency and, if necessary, adopt subsequent findings to continue holding teleconference meetings in accordance with Government Code section 54953(e)(3).

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Water Advisory Commission in Santa Cruz, State of California, this __1__day of _December_____, 2021__, by the following vote:

| AYES: |
|----------|
| NOES: |
| ABSENT: |
| ABSTAIN: |

Chair, Water Advisory Commission

ATTEST:

Department Staff

Water Advisory Commission Page A.3-2

Approved as to Form:

Office of the County Counsel



County of Santa Cruz Health Services Agency Environmental Health Division 701 Ocean Street, Room 312 Santa Cruz, CA 95060 (831) 454-2022 Fax (831) 454-3128 https://www.scceh.org/

Meeting Minutes

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY WATER ADVISORY COMMISSION Wednesday October 6, 2021, 4pm Microsoft Teams Meeting:

Please see information on meeting access and procedures on the page 3 of the Packet.

A. <u>OPENING</u>

Call to Order (4:03)
Roll Call
Commissioner Cheap, Pereyra, Vice Chair Berry, Wilson, Chair Lockwood, Largay (arrived 4:23)
Absent: Lego
Staff: Sierra Ryan
Public: Mark Strudley

B. <u>APPROVAL OF MINUTES:</u> August 4, 2021 Correct Ray's name and title. Berry first, Wilson second. Peryra abstains.

C. <u>PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS</u> None

D. <u>COMMISSIONERS' REPORTS</u>

Frank Cheap – Working with Sierra and Audrey Levine to set up a service to provide water testing to the public. Limited items that would be tested for, for a limited time frame. We could gain randomized sets for groundwater quality. Question: Do we track where wells go dry? He continues to look at meters for private well owners, if we find good information, we can post it on the county website. Brian offered to share the name of his meter staff.

Chris Berry – In September the City of Santa Cruz service area reduced 12.7%. Found Coho in Laguna. Loch Lomond is at 56% full. They are going through a process to reduce the bypass flow out of the lake.

Brian Lockwood – AWCA Water Management Committee held today. Operations and Policy Relations Manager for DWR shared the expectations for the upcoming year. DWR reporting that this spring was the hottest and driest on record, storage is down significantly. Water year 2022 prospects are not good. In order to have average runoff we would need 140% of average rainfall throughout the State. Now starting to plan for how to deal with not only a dry 2022 but also a dry 2023. Challenged to balance health and safety, water quality, environmental needs. In better news there have been a series of meetings with Watsonville Slough restoration that is exciting. The first charette was really positive, focused on what can be done to improve the ecosystem of lower Watsonville Slough.

Mark Strudley added that he is happy to report out to the commission as it progresses. What's unique about the project is that it's going to go through feasibility and initial design. There is not cost to the rate payers. It's an army-corps sponsored program, co-sponsor is the Pajaro Drainage and they secured a grant. \$1.8 Water Advisory Commission Page B-1

million study including CEQA. It is planned to be multi-benefit, flood risk reduction, recharge, ecosystem restoration, emergency ingress/egress on Beach Road. Hoping to alleviate the manual breaching of the Pajaro Lagoon.

Ray Pereyra introduced himself and provided some background including that he worked with Hewlett Packard in facilities. His interest is saltwater intrusion. He previously served on the Commission for almost two terms.

Bryan Largay – SLVWD is dealing with fire related damages, there is a \$5mil deficit. Big Basin water company is facing problems as well, half the properties burned, others are facing reduced water demand. There is some pressure to have the owner of Big Basin sell to SLVWD. SLVWD is concerned about assuming liabilities, 5th district supervisor is working to fill this gap. Expressing concerns for these households and the financial complications to SLVWD.

Linda Wilson went on the water tour in the City of Santa Cruz. She also brought up concern about growth in the City of Santa Cruz and developing new sources of water.

E. STAFF REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

Sierra Ryan discussed the following:

- 1) The Brown Act Meeting Recording is available on the WAC website
- 2) The rules for remote attendance of public meetings is changing under AB 361. It currently looks as though the Commission can meet remotely in December and likely in person thereafter.
- 3) Staffing update Sierra was hired as the Water Resources Manager, currently started the paperwork to backfill her previous position as a Resource Planner.
- 4) Commissioner Cheap and others have expressed an interest in a tour of the water quality lab. If there is general interest Sierra will reach out to commissioners once she has worked with Audrey Levine to figure out times that work for their office.

F. <u>NEW BUSINESS</u>

1. Presentation by Sierra Ryan on current drought response

G. UNFINISHED BUSINESS and UPDATES

1. WAC Workplan Subcommittee Update

Lockwood will set up a meeting to get the subcommittee together to follow-up moving the process forward and report back in December. Pereyra questions what several years of drought would do to agriculture so including that item in the workplan is imporant. Commissioner Berry says that ongoing drought may be the topic and the economic impacts would be widespread. It is important to have all stakeholders represented at the table. Largay oversees a farming property in the Pajaro, they did some math and in a nutshell, the economic value of ag production is so high that bringing supply on to solve water demand, the revenue generated from production would pay for it. Instead of value, reinvesting in sustainable supplies makes more sense. Locally, we use half the water to grow an acre of crops than the central valley does, and the value of the crop produced is extremely high.

- 2. Pajaro Valley Groundwater Management GSU 22 submittal on track, Santa Cruz County BOS talked about deed on Struve Slough, Recharge Net Metering program, already recharging 500 AF during a wet year, was adopted as a formal program
- 3. Santa Margarita Groundwater Management GSP public comment period has closed, it is likely going to be adopted by the Board in November.
- 4. Mid-County Groundwater Management monitoring network expansion and metering program are both underway. At the September Board meeting there was discussion of progress that may be of interest to commissioners.

5. Coordination with Other Commissions – at intercom mission working group they talked about homelessness impacts on water. Fish and Wildlife Commission is writing a letter to the BOS.

H. <u>CORRESPONDENCE</u>

1. Email from Becky Steinbruner

I. BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ACTION ON ITEMS AFFECTING WATER:

No Action

J. <u>ITEMS OF INTEREST</u>

No Action

K. AGENDA ITEMS FOR FUTURE MEETINGS

- 1. Relationship between growth and water demand and water supply planning.
- 2. Water Status Report Update
- 3. Fish and Wildlife Letter to BOS about homelessness
- 4. Presentation about the Regional Water Management Foundation.
- 5. Groundwater Sustainability Agencies

L. ADJOURNMENT at 6:00

PLEASE CONTACT SIERRA RYAN (831) 345-5202, IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THIS MEETING





Prepared by County of Santa Cruz Environmental Health



Executive Summary

Santa Cruz County's water resources serve a critical role in protecting public health, preserving fragile watersheds, providing resilient habitats, and supporting recreational and commercial activities. County staff, local agencies, organizations, and the community continue to work together toward long term adaptive solutions to sustain environmental quality and provision safe and reliable water resources to meet current and future water resource needs. This status report is focused on the 2021 water year which began October 1, 2020 and ended September 30, 2021.

Water Resource Management activities during Water year 2021 were influenced by:

- Drought conditions
- Recovery from the aftermath of the CZU Lightning Complex Fires

Key accomplishment include:

- Improved watershed health and restoration due to collaboration among local governments, organizations, agencies, and community stakeholders
- Infrastructure and watershed enhancements in the aftermath of the CZU Lightning Complex Fires including more resilient pipelines and tanks, the use of stream wood to enhance habitats for endangered and threatened species.
- Development of comprehensive drought response actions and implementing emergency preparedness as a integral part of water resources management
- Improvements in water-use efficiency
- Increased capacity in identifying and mitigating water quality impairments
- Progress in groundwater management
- Building water supply resilience

Contents

| Executive Summary | 1 |
|--|----|
| Introduction | 3 |
| Water Resource Protection | 6 |
| Watershed Health and Restoration | 6 |
| CZU Lighting Complex Fires Recovery | 6 |
| Fisheries | 6 |
| Stream Wood Program | 7 |
| Restoration of Critical Habitats | 7 |
| Conservation | |
| Water quality | 9 |
| Watershed assessment | 9 |
| Monitoring algal and cyanobacterial blooms | |
| Recreational water quality monitoring | 13 |
| Wastewater Management | 14 |
| Water Resource Linkages with Agriculture Practices | 16 |
| Water Resiliency | 17 |
| Integrated Regional Water Management | 17 |
| Infrastructure | |
| Stormwater management | |
| Water Supply Reliability and Water Use Efficiency | |
| Drinking Water Systems | |
| Water Use Efficiency | |
| Groundwater Management | |
| Building Resiliency and Preparedness | 25 |
| Drought Response | 25 |
| Fire response and Preparedness | |
| Flood, Climate Change, and Emergency Preparedness | 27 |
| Supplemental Water Supply Projects | 29 |
| | |

List of Figures

| Figure 1. Daily rainfall in Santa Cruz (reported by CIMIS) during water year 2021 | 3 |
|--|----|
| Figure 2. Water year 2021 Streamflow for the San Lorenzo River at the Big Trees gaging station in | |
| comparison to median values. | 4 |
| Figure 3. Focus areas of water resources programs during water year 2021 | 5 |
| Figure 4. Boxplot of yearly E. Coli concentrations at the sampling sites adjacent to two USGS monitori | ng |
| stations on the San Lorenzo River | 10 |
| Figure 5. Frequency of exceeding the single-sample E. Coli limit (400 MPN/100 mL) at the sampling sit | es |
| adjacent to two USGS monitoring stations on the San Lorenzo River | 10 |
| Figure 6. Comparison of nitrate and orthophosphate data from seven monitoring locations | 11 |
| Figure 7. Time series of microcystin data | 12 |
| Figure 8. Comparison of q-PCR Enterococci data with cell culture Enterococci data | 14 |
| Figure 9. Example micrographs of algae identified during a 'Red Tide' event at Seacliff State Beach | 14 |
| Figure 10. Water use relative to number of connections for all major municipal suppliers, | |
| combined, 1984-2021 | 20 |

Introduction

Santa Cruz County's water resources serve a critical role in protecting public health, preserving fragile watersheds, providing resilient habitats, and supporting recreational and commercial activities. Responding to drought, wildfires, a changing climate, and other uncertainties requires integrated and holistic approaches to building resilience and fostering sustainability. The majority of Santa Cruz's water supply is locally derived – a unique situation in a state supported by large federal and state water projects. Domestic supply within the region is provided by five large public agencies, four medium water systems, 115 small water systems, and some 8,000 individual wells. Wastewater treatment includes centralized water reclamation facilities that collect and process water from sewered areas within the County along with decentralized on-site systems that serve more rural areas. Some of the challenges confronting our vulnerable water resources include inadequate water supply particularly during droughts, impaired water quality, overdrafted groundwater basins, depleted streams, and degraded riparian habitat. County staff, local agencies, organizations, and the community continue to work together toward long term adaptive solutions to sustain environmental quality and provision safe and reliable water resources to meet current and future water resource needs. This status report is focused on the 2021 water year which began October 1, 2020 and ended September 30, 2021.

Rainfall is critical to sustaining the County's surface and groundwater resources. Water year 2021 was

the second consecutive dry year.¹ While rainfall patterns vary throughout the County, there was only one major storm, leaving rainfall totals countywide at roughly half of average. The US Drought Monitor² identified the entire county as experiencing Extreme Drought. On July 8, 2021, Governor Newsom declared a state of emergency due to drought conditions in Santa Cruz County. The County Board of Supervisors adopted a resolution acknowledging the state of drought emergency in September 2021.

Adverse impacts resulting from the drought included reduced steamflow, dry stream reaches extremely dry vegetation, and increased fire risk. For example, water year



Figure 1. Daily rainfall in Santa Cruz (reported by CIMIS) during water year 2021

2021 San Lorenzo River flows are shown in Figure 2 in comparison to a 68 year median (1953-2021). The cumulative runoff, or total amount of flow in the San Lorenzo River, was less than 20% of average. In response to the drought, the water agencies in the County, and the County Board of Supervisors, requested water use reductions from their residents.

¹ Data from CIMIS (California Irrigation Management Information System): <u>https://cimis.water.ca.gov/</u>

² https://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/

Water Advisory Commission Page F.1-3



Figure 2. Water year 2021 Streamflow for the San Lorenzo River at the Big Trees gaging station ³in comparison to median values.

The dry winter did bring with it a silver lining. The CZU lighting complex fires that burned from August 16, 2020-September 22, 2020 impacted watersheds in the North County, several communities (Boulder Creek, Bonny Doon, Swanton, and Empire Grade), State and local parks, and nearly 20% of the San Lorenzo River watershed⁴. If there had been significant rainfall in the aftermath of the wildfires, the runoff could have triggered serious debris flows downslope of the burn scars. Potential consequences of debris flows include risks to homes, infrastructure, watersheds, and critical habitats. Water quality could also be compromised, depending on the proximity to the burn area, the extent of damage, stream flows, and the effectiveness of local mitigation efforts. Changes to surface water quality are somewhat site-specific. During and immediately after the fires there could be localized releases of pollutants and contaminants due to smoke deposition, potentially toxic debris, stream blockage due to downed trees and vegetation, and consequences of road-related runoff to support evacuations, fire suppression equipment, and other short-term actions. Drinking water quality can also be impaired, particularly if there is infrastructure damage. Longer term impacts remain unknown and could include releases from compromised on-site wastewater treatment systems, debris flow, and increased erosion, and changes in the quantity and quality of sediment associated with stormwater runoff.

The County and its partner agencies continue to conduct a range of efforts for water resource management to address resource challenges. This status report is organized into the thematic areas shown in Figure 3.

³ <u>https://waterdata.usgs.gov/monitoring-location/11160500/#parameterCode=00065&period=P7D</u>

⁴ <u>https://www.cityofsantacruz.com/government/city-departments/water/water-quality/czu-fire-water-quality</u>



Figure 3. Focus areas of water resources programs during water year 2021.

Water Resource Protection

Santa Cruz County and partner organizations have a longstanding commitment to protect water resources and improve watershed health to support beneficial uses. Surface water resources include freshwater streams, lakes, creeks, and lagoons along with coastal estuarine and marine habitats. Groundwater resources serve as a source for drinking water, irrigation water, and contribute to instream flows. Groundwater is replenished from rainfall and can also be augmented by recharge from engineered systems that promote infiltration of stormwater, treated wastewater, or surplus freshwater withdrawn and the available recharge, resulting in overdrafts and localized subsidence. In coastal areas, groundwater is also vulnerable to intrusion of saltwater from the ocean⁵ which impairs water quality and can affect ecosystems and end-users of the groundwater. The County's watersheds provide critical habitat for several species that are classified as threatened or endangered, including Coho salmon.⁶ Some water resource programs are mandated under state or federal regulatory requirements, while other programs are supported by grants or local initiatives.

Watershed Health and Restoration

During water year 2021, watershed health and restoration activities were focused on recovery efforts in the aftermath of the CZU lightning complex fires. In addition, progress was made on fisheries and streamwood, restoration of critical habitats, and conservation planning.

CZU Lighting Complex Fires Recovery

The County provided funding to the Resource Conservation District (RCD) to work directly with property owners to provide outreach and technical assistance on repairing and preventing storm related damage. The RCD visited properties at landowners' request and addressed concerns related to home drainage/erosion, roads, landslides, and streambank failures, permit assistance, fire preparedness, livestock management, invasive species control and habitat enhancement.

The County Water Resources Program and the Resource Conservation District (RCD)⁷ continue to offer site assessments and technical assistance to landowners within the burn area impacted by the CZU Lightning Complex Fire, assisting with long term recovery. The RCD facilitated the exchange of woodchips from the fires to farms. The woodchips were used to replenish chips in a managed aquifer recharge basin, provide mulch and ground cover, and reduce erosion.

Approximately 1600 acres along the Ben Lomond Mountain, a key water supply watershed, were burned. SLVWD staff, the County, and Cal Fire are continuing to work on erosion control, restoration, and hazard tree removal. The SLVWD also received 500 redwood seedlings to be planted in high burn severity areas throughout the watershed.

Fisheries

Since 2015, the City of Santa Cruz has increased the quantify of flow released for fish in Laguna, Majors, and Liddell Creeks, and the lower San Lorenzo River as a part of an interim agreement with the fishery agencies. The City continues to work on its Endangered Species Act compliance and is currently working on a final draft Habitat Conservation Plan (HCP) for anadromous salmonids that should be submitted for

science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects

⁵ <u>https://www.usgs.gov/mission-areas/water-resources/science/saltwater-intrusion?qt-</u>

⁶ <u>https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/species/coho-salmon-protected</u>

⁷ <u>http://www.rcdsantacruz.org/post-fire</u>

Water Advisory Commission Page F.1-6

approval by NMFS and DFW in late 2021/early 2022. The City also completed the Operations and Maintenance Habitat Conservation Plan with the USFWS and began implementation of that plan.

The City of Santa Cruz and SLVWD continued efforts to monitor streamflow and habitat conditions in their drinking water watersheds in an effort to establish objectives for habitat improvement. In addition, permitting for the Fall Creek Fish Ladder project was secured by SLVWD in 2021 and construction is slated to begin in June 2022. The SLVWD filed a petition for instream flow dedication pursuant to Water Code section 1707 with the State Water Resources Control Board for its Lompico Creek, License 2733 (Application 4667) water right. Allowing the water to be dedicated to instream uses such as fish & wildlife.

Coho salmon are listed as endangered under state and federal Endangered Species Act (ESA) and are critically endangered in Santa Cruz County. Most of their range was impacted by the CZU Fire. Small populations of coho salmon persist in North Coast streams with the support of a conservation hatchery.

Steelhead are listed as threatened under the Federal ESA and continue to persist in most county streams at low to moderate population numbers. Local organizations are collaborating on monitoring 41 sites for juvenile steelhead densities and stream habitat in four watersheds: San Lorenzo, Soquel, Aptos and Pajaro. Drought conditions continue to impact steelhead densities and access into the upper watershed sites. Current recovery actions focus on improving dry season streamflow and habitat complexity. County Water Resource Program staff completed a map update that shows current or recent coho and steelhead⁸.

The RCD continued to work with landowners and agency partners to plan and permit habitat improvement projects through the Integrated Watershed Restoration Program (IWRP). Projects implemented in 2020 included: removal of 3 fish passage barriers on Branciforte Creek, removal of the lower Mill Creek Dam, creating a salamander breeding pond in south county, creating a red legged frog breeding pond on the UCSC marine campus.

Stream Wood Program

Fisheries are also supported by the Stream Wood Program which serves to maintain large wood in streams for habitat value while allowing modification to manage flood risk and infrastructure protection. Significant benefits of stream wood include pool formation and cover habitat, sediment retention and sediment sorting. Key elements of the program include responding to public requests, evaluating fallen trees and wood accumulations, and determining the efficacy of leaving the stream wood in place. During water year 2021, about thirteen new inputs of large wood were documented and outreach to property owners was conducted to address concerns. The RCD also initiated planning for large wood installation projects on Soquel and Aptos Creeks.

Restoration of Critical Habitats

County staff continue to participate in a multi-agency effort to restore natural lagoon and marsh dynamics at Scott Creek while constructing a new Highway 1 bridge at this location. The RCD is leading the project with a Technical Advisory Committee that includes regulatory and natural resource agencies. Caltrans has developed a draft bridge design that will replace the existing bridge with a much longer bridge to accommodate the lagoon restoration and sea level rise.

Restoration efforts are also underway at Moran Lagoon to restore and enhance wetland habitat function and water quality with a long-term goal of fostering resilience to droughts, floods, and sea-level rise. Water Resources staff are partnering with County Parks to develop baseline data on water quality and investigate the prevalence of Tidewater Goby, an endangered species. During water year 2021, the

⁸ https://sccgis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/View/index.html?appid=20f0bdf8d6f44a8691a6882154b9a4d0 Water Advisory Commission Page F.1-7

water quality program developed a monitoring plan and initiated seasonal sampling to characterize water quality variations.

Watershed protection/restoration efforts spearheaded by the City of Santa Cruz include:

- watershed lands fire preparedness and overall forest management work,
- invasive species eradication,
- implementation of several mitigation/restoration projects,
- ongoing lagoon monitoring,
- resumption of interpretive work that had been interrupted by Covid,
- hosting the seventh annual State of the San Lorenzo River Symposium,
- maintenance of watershed and stream signs,
- patrols along the San Lorenzo River,
- management of houseless persons camps adjacent to the San Lorenzo River,
- cleaning up houseless persons encampments, and
- pursuing enforcement on illegal stream diversions and other environmental regulatory violations on critical streams.

In June 2020 the SLVWD's Board of Directors approved the Integrated Pest Management Policy (IPMP). The IPMP should alleviate pest problems with the least possible hazard to people, property and the environment and create procedures of future usage of pesticides, herbicides, and rodenticides on SLVWD properties. Implementation and hardening has occurred in 2021. In addition, SLVWD is preparing a Habitat Conservation Plan to mitigate the impacts to listed species in Sandhills habitat which result from the SLVWD's Capital Improvement Projects. The initial draft of the plan is aimed for completion in February 2022.

Restoration of the Watsonville Sloughs is a priority for the County and partner organizations. The Pajaro Storm Drain Maintenance District (PSDMD) is entering the feasibility phase of a multi-benefit tidal marsh and wetland restoration project in the lower Watsonville Slough. The purpose of the Project is to conduct feasibility analysis and initial design for a mostly nature-based infrastructure project that reestablishes and enhances wetland and tidal marsh habitat while providing flood risk reduction, climate change adaptation, and recreational opportunities to economically-disadvantaged local residents. Feasibility work has begun and stakeholder input is being sought so that an appropriate and responsive set of alternatives can be evaluated.

The City of Watsonville, Pajaro Storm Drain Maintenance District, and Watsonville Wetlands Watch were awarded a Proposition 1 IRWM grant for the Upper Struve Slough Habitat Restoration and Public Access Project. This project is a multi-benefit project that will reduce flooding, improve habitat, and restore water quality through Struve Slough. PSDMD will secure partial funding from the Army Corps of Engineers under the Section 1135 Continuing Authorities Program, and the remainder of necessary funding will come from a Prop 1 grant award from the Ocean Protection Council.

Conservation

County Water Resources Program staff have been engaged in the development of a Regional Conservation Investment Strategy (RCIS), an effort led by the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) and the Resource Conservation District of Santa Cruz County (RCD). The plan identifies conservation

priorities for a range of critical species and habitat types to support the wise investment of restoration and mitigation funding. The RCIS will be completed in 2022.

The County and San Lorenzo Valley Water District (SLVWD) completed a grant project through the Wildlife Conservation Board Streamflow Enhancement Program. The grant assisted in the development of a San Lorenzo Watershed Conjunctive Use and Baseflow Enhancement Plan. The Plan will be used to improve water supply reliability and increase summer stream flows in the immediate future and recommend further infrastructure improvements needed in the long run. In 2021 the Conjunctive Use Plan was drafted, an initial study – mitigated negative declaration (IS-MND) was completed, and water right petitions were initiated. However, SLVWD staff are recommending that the SLVWD Board of Directors authorize further technical studies and an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) for the CUP based on comments received on the IS-MND.

The Olympia Conservation Area Management Plan was completed in May 2020. This plan was developed to guide habitat management, restoration, enhancement, and monitoring within the Olympia Conservation Area—a 6.3-acre conservation area located within the SLVWD's 180-acre Olympia Watershed Property. The conservation area was set aside by SLVWD to mitigate impacts of its capital improvements and operations and maintenance projects on rare species and sensitive habitat in the Sandhills. SLVWD secured an AmeriCorps Team in March-April 2021 for a special project in the Olympia Watershed and its Kirby Water Treatment Plant for invasive removal.

Water quality

During water year 2021, water quality efforts have focused on evaluating trends in freshwater watersheds, investigating algal and cyanobacterial blooms, and conducting ongoing monitoring of beaches to identify potential health risks. The County's environmental health laboratory continued to expand analytical capabilities to investigate waterborne contamination. The County's water quality program primary focus is microbiology and chemical fingerprinting.

Watershed assessment

Several watersheds within Santa Cruz County have been identified by the State of California as impaired waterbodies pursuant to Section 303(d) of the Federal Clean Water Act (CWA)⁹. By definition, 303(d) listings and adopted TMDLs are related to impacts on one or more beneficial uses and the need to control the source(s) of these impairments. The Regional Water Board has oversight over these waterbodies and manages water quality through implementing Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs) that are incorporated into Basin¹⁰ Plans, the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)¹¹ permit program, and the Storm water (MS4)¹² program. The County of Santa Cruz and the Cities of Santa Cruz, Capitola, Scotts Valley, and Watsonville conduct extensive water quality monitoring and there is ongoing collaboration to exchange data among the individual stakeholders. An example of data from two monitoring locations along the San Lorenzo River in Figure 4.

⁹ <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/tmdl/background.html</u>

¹⁰ <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralcoast/publications_forms/publications/basin_plan/</u>

¹¹ <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/npdes/</u>

¹² https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/stormwater/municipal.html



Figure 4. Boxplot of yearly E. Coli concentrations at the sampling sites adjacent to two USGS monitoring stations on the San Lorenzo River: Site 060-Big Trees (upper graph) and site 02192 (lower graph) between 2011 and 2020. E. Coli data are from routine grab samples taken by the County of Santa Cruz Environmental Health Program.

The annual frequency of exceeding the single-sample E. Coli requirement of 400 MPN/100 mL is shown in Figure 5 along with rainfall data for both sites. During 2020, a higher percentage of E. Coli samples were above 400 MPN/100 mL at Big Trees than in the previous several years. The water quality staff have initiated microbial source tracking to try to determine the sources of contamination and develop potential mitigation strategies.



Figure 5. Frequency of exceeding the single-sample E. Coli limit (400 MPN/100 mL) at the sampling sites adjacent to two USGS monitoring stations on the San Lorenzo River: Site 060 (Big Trees) and site 02192 between 2011 and 2020. Rainfall data are from the California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS), site 104 (De Laveaga).

Monitoring algal and cyanobacterial blooms

Pinto Lake is listed on the Clean Water Act section 303(d) List of impaired waterbodies due to seasonal and persistent cyanobacterial blooms that adversely affect the lake's aquatic ecosystem and recreational uses. Several factors affect the frequency and intensity of cyanobacterial blooms including nutrient loading (nitrogen and phosphorus), water temperature, and the extent of mixing within the lake environment. In 2017, several mitigation measures were implemented at Pinto Lake through the City of Watsonville's 319(h) grant (Agreement number 14-424-253)¹³ and the Resource Conservation District of Santa Cruz County (RCDSCC)'s Proposition 84 Grant (Grant No.13-515-553-0)¹⁴.

Nutrient data from 2020 and 2021 are shown in Figure 6. As shown, the levels of nutrients vary from site-to-stie and season-to-season, however, slight increases were observed during water year 2021, perhaps due to the lack of rainfall along with variations in the level of agricultural activity within the watershed.



Figure 6. Comparison of nitrate and orthophosphate data from seven monitoring locations: CCC Creek (PL15), Amesti Creek (PL12), County Dock (PL 16), Dock at Villas Del Paraiso (PL11), the Boat Dock (PL 0) and downstream locations at Corralitos Creek (P302) and College Lake (P 31). Data are from grab samples taken by the County of Santa Cruz Environmental Health (May 2020-September 2021).

¹³ <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralcoast/water_issues/programs/grants/docs/14424253_fr.pdf</u>

¹⁴ <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralcoast/water_issues/programs/grants/docs/grant_reports/13515553_sr.pdf</u>

Water Advisory Commission Page F.1-11

Microcystins are cyanobacterial toxins that can be released in conjunction with a cyanobacterial bloom. Data on microcystins measured at the Pinto Lake boat dock are shown in Figure 7. During water year 2021, toxins were detected during the summer, but the levels were consistently below the health advisory level. The peak concentrations were observed in mid-July.



Figure 7. Time series of microcystin data from grab samples taken at Pinto Lake Boat Dock (PLO), Amesti Creek (PL12), and Pinto Lake at County Dock (PL16). Detection limit is 0.05 μg/L.

Preliminary screening of cyanobacterial and algal toxins was conducted in July 2021 in response to reports of 'red tide' and the prevalence of cyanobacterial/algal blooms in coastal lagoons. Seven coastal sites were sampled synoptically and tested for microcystins as an initial screening test. Physical-chemical parameters (temperature, dissolved oxygen, turbidity, and electrical conductivity), algal pigments (cholorophyll and phycocyanin), and fecal indicator bacteria were also tested. Results are summarized in Table 1. For this round of screening tests, water temperatures ranged from about 16 to 24 ° C. Microcystins were detected in three samples, but below the health advisory levels. There was no correlation between microcystin levels, algal pigments, or fecal indicator bacteria levels. The screening program will be refined in advance of the 2022 monitoring season.

| | | | Physical | paramete | ers | pigm | gal ients, g/L | Fecal indicator bacteria, MPN/100 mL | | | |
|------|---------------------------------------|----------------------|------------------------------|-------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------|----------------------|---|---------|--------------------|------------------------|
| Code | Site name | Water temp, °C | Dissolved Oxygen, mg/L | Turbidity, NTU | Electrical conductivity, µS/cm | Chloro- phyll | Phyco- cyanin | | | Total coliforms | Microcystins, µg/L* |
| MR4 | Antonelli Pond near Delaware | 23.0 | 5.6 | 17.8 | 477 | 120 | ≤0.2 | ≤10 | 20 | 6,488 | 0.26 |
| 10 | Intel Creek at Mouth | 16.5 | 1.3 | 10.0 | 600 | 60 | ≤0.2 | 723 | 243 | 4,884 | <0.05 |
| N2 | Nearly Lagoon at Bay Street | 20.3 | 3.8 | 31.1 | 546 | 9 | 0.3 | 2,046 | 794 | 3,873 | <0.05 |
| 003 | San Lorenzo River at Trestle | 22.2 | 10.3 | 5.5 | 7,850 | 0.9 | ≤0.2 | 322 | 1,470 | >24,196 | <0.05 |
| 001 | San Lorenzo River at Mouth | 22.6 | 9.5 | 2.8 | 10,778 | 9 | ≤0.2 | 63 | 1,014 | >24,196 | <0.05 |
| SW0 | Schwan Lake at Mouth | 22.8 | 8.9 | 10.2 | 31,707 | 6 | ≤0.2 | 20 | >24,196 | >24,196 | 2.77 |
| RO | Corcoran Lagoon at Mouth | 24.1 | 11.1 | 3.6 | 58,595 | 48 | ≤0.2 | ≤10 | ≤10 | 231 | 0.24 |

* California Health Advisories ¹⁵ for Microcystins are:

| - | | |
|---|--------------------------|------------------|
| | Total Microcystins, µg/L | Trigger Level |
| | <0.8 | No advisory |
| | 0.8-5.9 | Caution (Tier 1) |
| | 6-19 | Warning (Tier 2) |
| | >20 | Danger (Tier 3) |
| | | |

Recreational water quality monitoring

During this reporting year, the County continued routine surveillance of over 30 ocean monitoring sites and adjacent creeks, streams, and lagoons in accordance with State requirements. Water quality data are reported on the County's website¹⁶ within 30 hours of sample collection and local jurisdictions are notified whenever there is a health advisory. A pilot program was implemented for 'same-day' testing of Enterococci using molecular methods (qPCR) in accordance with EPA methodology.

Currently the qPCR data provide an 'early warning' of the need to resample. An example comparison of q-PCR data and cell culture data is shown in Figure 8 for sites sampled between April and June 2021 with detectable q-PCR Enterococci. In general, exceedances of cell culture Enterococci corresponded to q-PCR Enterococci values above 600 cell equivalents per 100 mL. The County is working with other water

¹⁵ <u>https://mywaterquality.ca.gov/habs/resources/habs_response.html</u>

¹⁶ http://scceh.com/waterquality.aspx

Water Advisory Commission Page F.1-13

quality programs and the Water Board to identify ways for method optimization and streamlining. The use of digital PCR is also being investigated as a faster and more accurate tool.



Figure 8. Comparison of q-PCR Enterococci data with cell culture Enterococci data for samples with q-PCR levels above the limit of quantification (LOQ) Data From April Through June 2021.

Towards the end of this reporting year, the County began screening for potential health risks associated with exposure to cyanobacterial toxins. Preliminary microscopic screening was initiated in samples from lagoons and ocean beaches when bloom conditions are suspected (due to temperature, evidence of water discoloration, or concerns reported by beachgoers). Where feasible, the dominant algal and cyanobacterial species were identified and micrographs were catalogued for future reference. An example of algal species identified in a beach sample is shown in Figure 9. The County is exploring the use of enzyme-based test-methods and also qPCR for evaluating toxins during algal blooms. The toxin testing is focused on microcystins, cylindrospermopsin, anatoxins, and saxitoxins.



Figure 9. Example micrographs of algae identified during a 'Red Tide' event at Seacliff State Beach.

Wastewater Management

In 2021, Environmental Health staff completed the County's Local Area Management Program (LAMP) for Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems (OWTS). The LAMP is consistent with requirements of the State OWTS Policy and was developed in consultation with local stakeholders and staff from the Central Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board. The Regional Board approved the LAMP on October 14, 2021 and authorized the County to begin implementation immediately. Staff have initiated the process

Water Advisory Commission Page F.1-14

to make related updates to the General Plan and County code, which will be completed in 2022. Implementation of the LAMP will provide for increased protection of public health and water quality by requiring increased setbacks from public water supply sources, drainageways, and karst features. The LAMP also specifies increased groundwater separation and provides detailed requirements for:

- shallow dispersal trenches,
- use of site-specific assessment and mitigation of site constraints in lieu of minimum lot sizes in broadly mapped constraint areas,
- maintenance of one-acre minimum lot size in water supply watersheds,
- increased use of enhanced treatment systems for new and replacement OWTS,
- nitrogen reduction in all nitrate constraint areas,
- locally approved and qualified service providers and designers,
- property owner requirements for proper OWTS operation and maintenance, and
- system evaluation at time of property transfer.

The Santa Cruz County Sanitation District secured a \$1,393,000 loan from the State Water Resources Control Board to relocate a sewer main crossing Valencia Creek. Valencia Creek is on the Central Coast Water Board's list of impaired water bodies. This project will consist of installation of a HDPE sewer main along a new alignment that will serve to replace the deteriorated main in a more secure location to protect water quality in the creek.

The Santa Cruz County Sanitation District completed the Soquel Pump Station and Force Main Replacement project in November 2021. This project served to control potential sewer leaks to Soquel Creek and Capitola Beach. The old, potentially leaking, sewer force main under Soquel Creek was replaced by a new jointless HDPE main. Upgrades at the Soquel Pump Station will increase reliability of the station and reduce the potential for sanitary sewer overflows. This project was funded by a \$1,976,731 Clean Beaches Grant, \$5,000,000 State Water Resources Control Board Clean Water Loan, and District funds.

The Santa Cruz County Sanitation District completed replacement or lining of over 10,000 linear feet of aging sewer mains and lined and sealed multiple sewer manholes. This work reduces the potential for sewer to exfiltrate into the ground water, and also reduces the risk of sanitary sewer overflows which could reach bodies of water.

The Freedom County Sanitation District completed Phase 1 of the Sewer Rehabilitation project. This included replacement of over 13,000 linear feet of aging sewer mains and lined and sealed multiple sewer manholes. This work reduces the potential for sewer to exfiltrate into the ground water, and also reduces the risk of sanitary sewer overflows which could reach bodies of water. This project was funded by a \$4,497,000 loan and \$4,492,628 grant from the United States Department of Agriculture Rural Development Water & Environmental Program.

As part of the County Sanitation's Sewer Lateral Program, the County reviewed over 600 sewer lateral videos and required repairs on over 350 laterals. Repairs fix defects that could lead to sewer exfiltration or cause sanitary sewer overflows.

In May 2021, the homeowners of CSA 2- Place De Mer approved the formation of an assessment district in the amount of \$2.8 million to fund sanitary sewer improvements to replace a failing community septic system and gravity sewer mains. The project includes an advanced wastewater treatment system that will treat the CSAs wastewater to a higher than secondary treatment, reduce nitrogen, and remove the

existing precast concrete tanks that have failed. The replacement of gravity sewer mains will reduce the possibility of infiltration and exfiltration.

Water Resource Linkages with Agriculture Practices

The Central Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board's Agricultural Order 4.0 regulates discharges from irrigated agricultural lands to protect surface water and groundwater quality. It was adopted by the Regional Water Board in April 2021 and is expected to take effect in spring 2022. RCD staff provided detailed comments and recommendations related to the strategies and requirements included in draft Ag Order 4.0. Staff continued to participate in a technical advisory group, including UC researchers and other experts, to provide the Water Board with a metric that growers can use to report how much nitrogen was removed from their fields (relative to the volume of nitrogen applied) during the reporting period. In addition, RCD staff participated in monthly "brown bag" meetings with stakeholders and Water Board staff to help inform the successful development of a third-party cooperative group that will offer growers an alternative route for meeting many of the Ag Order 4.0 requirements. That third-party group's proposal (from Central Coast Water Quality Preservation, Inc.) was subsequently approved by the Regional Water Board and future collaborations are planned to advance improvements to water quality on watershed scales.

RCD staff collaborated with Central Coast Water Quality Preservation, Inc., non-profits, growers, other RCDs and UC researchers to help advance the development of a best management practice using biochar filtration in agricultural settings to remove pesticides. RCD supported outreach, implementation and monitoring for a number of projects incorporating biochar, which is now documented as an effective treatment for reducing pesticides in agricultural water. Looking ahead, partners will work to develop a BMP design that is simple, cost-effective and scalable.

RCD Agricultural Program staff continue to work with NRCS, researchers, management agencies, funders and industry to get effective water quality best management practices developed and on the ground. Additionally, RCD is providing assistance to growers to submit applications for funding to the CDFA State Water and Energy Efficiency Program (SWEEP) and the Healthy Soils Program (HSP). The SWEEP program offers growers the opportunity to apply for up to \$200,000 for projects that improve water and energy use efficiency, and the HSP program offers growers up to \$100,000 to help implement practices that improve soil health. RCD staff helped growers submit applications through December 2021, and anticipate that well over 20 applications will be submitted from Santa Cruz County growers during this round of funding, with a high likelihood of receiving awards.

The RCD continues assist growers with conserving water through irrigation efficiency and soil health improvements leveraging funds from PV Water, CDFA, and NRCS. Assistance with nitrogen management is often incorporated into the irrigation efficiency assistance. During 2021, RCD assisted 23 growers to monitor and/or improve the efficiency of their irrigation. The RCD also provides:

- irrigation system evaluations and recommendations,
- season-long monitoring to inform growers of how the volume of water applied to their crops compares to the volume of water required by their crops,
- irrigator trainings in English and Spanish, soil moisture monitoring, and
- technical and financial assistance to implement more efficient water use practices.

Through collaboration with PV Water, over \$25,000 was issued to participants in the Agricultural Water Conservation Program. Rebates and cost-share from PV Water helps growers purchase and install more efficient irrigation equipment such as lower flow sprinklers, pressure compensating drip tape, pipe

retrofits, soil moisture sensors, irrigation monitoring equipment like flow meters and data loggers, and repairs of leaky pipe joints.

Water Resiliency

Water resiliency activities include integrated regional water management, water supply reliability, and focused efforts to build resiliency and preparedness. Priorities during water year 2021 were dictated by the aftermath of the CZU lightning fires and the drought conditions.

Integrated Regional Water Management

Santa Cruz County partner agencies continue to work together on the Integrated Regional Water Management (IRWM) program, with the Regional Water Management Foundation (RWMF) serving as a hub for the 12 agencies in the Regional Water Management Group. The County and all of the cities and public agencies dealing with water are signatories to the Santa Cruz IRWM Memorandum of Agreement, which was updated in 2016. The agencies contribute a combined \$82,000 annually to support maintenance of the IRWM efforts. The RWMF is also providing administrative services to the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency, and grant administration for the Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency¹⁷.

The Santa Cruz and Pajaro IRWM regions, as well other four other IRWM regions along the Central Coast, continue to work to utilize IRWM grant funds to further evaluate and address the water needs of disadvantaged communities in the Central Coast, including the Santa Cruz and Pajaro regions. This project is being administered by the RWMF.

In July 2021, the RWMF executed a \$2.3M grant agreement with the Department of Water Resources (DWR) on behalf of the IRWM Region. The award is from Round 1 of the Proposition 1 IRWM Implementation grants. It will support multiple projects featuring work to:

- enhance watershed and stream conditions by reducing sediment runoff
- improve water supply reliability for the community of Davenport
- capture stormwater runoff for groundwater recharge in the Mid-County groundwater basin and,
- implement habitat restoration projects in Watsonville Sloughs.

Local project sponsors include: Resource Conservation District Santa Cruz County; County of Santa Cruz, Environmental Health; and the Davenport County Sanitation District. Implementation partners include Land Trust of Santa Cruz County and Soquel Creek Water District among others. The Santa Cruz County Flood Control and Water Conservation District Zone 6 project for storm drainage improvements for the Rio del Mar Flats was previously to be funded in part by this grant but the County is no longer advancing that project. This grant is being administered by the RWMF. Work will occur from 2021 to 2024.

Infrastructure

The County Zone 5 Master Plan is being updated. The update is scheduled for completion by December 2022. One main goal of this MP update is to generate detailed cost estimates for the maintenance and CIP upgrade of all the large drainage conveyances, 36" or larger in pipe diameter. That estimates will be utilized to seek additional sustainable funding sources for the maintenance and the CIP implementation from the benefiting property owners in the Zone. In addition, impact fee nexus analysis and impact fees

¹⁷ www.santacruzirwmp.org/

calculations will be conducted based on the CIP results to evaluate the funding sources attributed to impervious area generation associated with land development projects in the zone.

Stormwater management

County staff from Public Works and Environmental Health continue to implement the County's stormwater management program and update the program to address evolving State and Federal requirements.

In the last decade three stormwater infiltration systems have been constructed in Scotts Valley by the Scotts Valley Water District and private developers. The SVWD monitors all three – the combined infiltration total for water year 2021 was over 16 acre-feet.

The City of Watsonville completed a grant from the Santa Cruz IRWM to leverage current engagement efforts on pollution prevention related to stormwater in disadvantaged community block groups. of Watsonville also completed a grant through the Santa Cruz IRWM's Disadvantaged Community Involvement Grant to plan a stormwater project centrally located in the City that has water quality and habitat restoration benefits to Middle Struve Slough. This project was in partnership with Watsonville Wetlands Watch.

Water Supply Reliability and Water Use Efficiency

Ensuring that drinking water systems are capable of provisioning safe water throughout the County is a key element of building resilience. A number of parallel efforts are addressing the availability of water including water use efficiency, groundwater management, and supplemental water supply projects

Drinking Water Systems

The Santa Cruz County Drinking Water Program oversees 109 active small water systems (SWSs), including community systems with 5 to 199 residential connections and noncommunity systems such as schools, outdoor camps, and businesses with their own source of drinking water. Drinking Water Program staff work with these systems to maintain compliance with evolving federal, state, and local public health requirements and meet the ongoing needs of the people and communities that rely upon them. County oversight includes regulation of water quality, quantity, monitoring, treatment, distribution, and system organization. These systems are required to test for up to 84 different constituents on an ongoing basis.

DRINKING WATER INFRASTRUCTURE

In July 2020, the Integrated Regional Water Management Foundation recommended to the Department of Water Resources funding for water tank repurposing and rehabilitation in Davenport, under the 2019 Proposition 1 IRWM Implementation Grant Program. Davenport County Sanitation District proposed to repair, line, and coat an existing water tank to be repurposed for the storage of raw water that would be available for treatment when source water is unavailable due to turbidity or low flows. In 2021, the District requested additional grant funding from DWR to cover cost increases that have occurred since the proposal was filed. Actual improvements will depend on the amount of funding received.

In October of 2021, the Davenport County Sanitation District kicked off the Feasibility Study with consultant Kennedy Jenks that will study if a pump station can be constructed at the San Vicente Creek intake to pump water to a domestic water main that would be constructed in an existing roadway paralleling the creek. Currently the water supply line is a gravity-fed pipe owned by CEMEX, that is exposed and routed within the creek channel. This line is subject to natural disasters and damage from fire. The new line would provide a more resilient water supply for the town. The study is funded by a \$93,023 Community Development Block Grant.

The SLVWD and SLVWD-Felton systems have an interconnection, which allows for the transfer of water between the two systems on an emergency basis. In 2020, the SLVWD received approximately 13.47 million gallons of water from the SLVWD-Felton system, or approximately 2.5% of its total supply; while the SLVWD-Felton system received approximately 9.62 million gallons of water from the SLVWD system, or approximately 7.7% of water provided to the SLVWD-Felton system.

WATER SYSTEM RELIABILITY

The SLVWD is working on a multi-tier effort to optimize operations, sustainably manage water supply and diversify the SLVWD's water supply portfolio to ensure a resilient water supply for a changing climate through:

- Water Conservation
- Improving System Efficiencies through Conjunctive Use (Using surface water when available to rest and recharge groundwater sources)
- Capital Improvement (increasing pipeline sizes, reducing leaks, and increasing storage tank capacities)
- Permit Intertie Pipelines to optimize operations and sustainably manage water supply.
- Sustainable Groundwater Management (SMGWA.ORG)
- Climate Adaptation and Mitigation (The Climate Registry)

The SLVWD, working with consultant Akel Engineering, has developed a Water Master Plan, including development of a dynamic system model and a Capital Improvement Program.

- The Master Plan provides a quantification of the existing system, including pipelines, storage reservoirs, treatment plants, pump stations, wells, and surface water intakes. The Plan reflects damage suffered during the CZU fires and not repaired as of September 2021.
- The dynamic system model is based on the existing system as outlined in the Master Plan, and allows for evaluation of potential system changes, as well as quantification of existing service. The District's hydrant pressure and flow schedule was developed using the dynamic model.
- The Capital Improvement Program identifies deficiencies within the system and provides recommendations for system repairs and upgrades. The Program anticipates approximately 20-years of continuous repair and upgrade by the District.

Water Use Efficiency

On a County-wide scale, optimizing water-use efficiency can serve to build water supply resilience. Water use efficiency includes prudent practices for using water, water-conserving fixtures, infrastructure maintenance, and strategic irrigation. A comparison of the amount of water produced in Santa Cruz County and the number of service connections from 1984 through 2021 is shown in Figure 10. It is interesting to note that, while the number of water connections has more than doubled, the net amount of water produced has decreased. This trend reflects increasing water conservation along with improvements in water-use efficiency. County staff ,countywide public water agencies, and Ecology Action collaborate on outreach and education through the *Water Conservation Coalition of Santa Cruz County*. Though most in-person events were cancelled this year, the Coalition developed the "Value of Water" social media campaign¹⁸ to encourage residents to learn more about water infrastructure sustainability. Initial activities included a quiz and an opportunity to earn prizes from local businesses. The website logged 957 views and 94 residents taking the quiz. The Coalition's booth at the 2021 Santa Cruz County fair featured an educational video on the importance on water infrastructure, information on County-wide conservation programs, and free water saving devices. In the coming year, the Coalition plans to build on the "Value of Water Campaign" and resume in-person events and landscaper trainings.



Figure 10. Water use relative to number of connections for all major municipal suppliers, combined, 1984-2021

Water use efficiency activities across the County included developing criteria for new developments and infrastructure, metering and leak detection programs, rebate programs, and landscape guidance. Generating awareness and maintaining consistency is critical for the success of these efforts.

CRITERIA FOR NEW DEVELOPMENTS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

 County Planning¹⁹ continues to encourage multi-family development, smaller units and Accessory Dwelling Units, which are all water saving relative to other types of development, as well as water saving landscapes.

¹⁹ Sustainable Santa Cruz County Plan (2014) and the Housing Element of the General Plan (2016-2023) Water Advisory Commission Page F.1-20

Santa Cruz County

Water Resources Management Status Report for 2021

- The Soquel Creek Water District's Water Demand Offset (WDO) program which, in lieu of a building moratorium, allows new development to proceed without increasing water demand on the overdrafted groundwater basin. (Note: The WDO program no longer applies to the construction of Accessory Dwelling Units due to the 2019 passage of Senate Bill 13). The WDO program is intended to serve as a bridge until a supplemental water supply can be secured. The program requires developers to fund a reduction in existing water use and/or increase in supply amounting to 200% of their projected new water use. Since 2019, each development project's offset fee of \$55,000 per acre-foot has been directed toward funding a water meter system upgrade from drive-by Advanced Meter Reading to Advanced Metering Infrastructure. The upgrade was initially estimated to save 86 acre-feet of water per year due to earlier leak notification features; thus, 86 acre-feet of offset credit was made available to new water service applicants for purchase. As of October 31, 2021, approximately 53 acre-feet of offset credit remains available for purchase. In 2021 to date, 24 Conditional Will Serves and 8 Unconditional Will Serves have been granted.
- SLVWD customers continue to demonstrate commitment to ongoing conservation efforts, maintaining at least a 15-22% reduction in yearly water usage from 2013 consumption levels. SLVWD's 2020/2021 target water use is 85 GPCD. The SLVWD's 23,700 population served meets the 85 GPCD target with an average 80 GPCD for 2020.

METERING AND LEAK DETECTION

- In July 2016 the SLVWD's Board of Directors approved the Badger Meter project with the goal of installing the advanced metering technology at all meters. As of November 2021 about 29% of the meters have been upgraded. The new meters, combined with the Badger Eye on Water engagement portal allow the customers to view hourly usage history, setup leak detection alerts and high bill notifications. In compliance with SB555, SLVWD has been conducting and submitting water loss audit reports to the Department of Water Resources (DWR). SLVWD has been improving its audit score every year from 49 in 2016 to 59 in 2020.
- The Scotts Valley Water District Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) project commenced in 2017 and achieved 100% installation in January of 2021. The meters (dubbed "Intelligent Meters" or i-Meters by staff) are supported by a web portal that helps customers to manage their water usage to be more water efficient. The District activated automated leak alerts that resulted in total excess water tracked through Leak Adjustment Program to be reduced by more than 50% (from 7 million gallons in FY19 to 3.5 million gallons in FY20 to 2.5 million gallons in FY21). The SVWD is currently developing and refining a targeted messaging procedure that leverages AMI to implement a significantly more robust system of notification regarding customer-side water leaks. Data analysis of leak trends is also underway to identify additional ways this technology can be used for water use efficiency efforts.

REBATES

- In Fiscal Year 2020/2021 the SLVWD issued 29 rebates for grey water system, Energy Star rated washing machine, low-flow toilet, and weather-based irrigation controller installations.
- During the January 1, 2021 through Nov 1, 2021 The City of Watsonville Municipal Utilities distributed a total of 27 lawn rebates, 7 Sewer Lateral Rebates, 29 High Efficient Energy Star Washing Machine Replacements, 16 Toilet Rebates, and 662 water conserving devices conserving over a million gallons of water annually.

LANDSCAPE WATER USE EFFICIENCY

• Scotts Valley Water District's Turfs Up special lawn rebate program ran from March to the end of June 2021 and provided a temporary increased rebate rate for lawn removals (\$2/square foot

up from \$1/sqft). The limited-time program resulted in the replacement of approximately 63,000 square feet of irrigated turf and the total estimated water savings are between 3 and 8 AFY.

• The Turf's Up program generated a noticeable increase (approximately 450%) in participation for regular lawn rebate program (28 applications on file for Q1 FY22 up from 8 applicants in Q1 FY20 and 4 in Q1 FY19).

OUTREACH AND EDUCATION

- SLVWD conducts a variety of public education activities such as a dedicated Water Use Efficiency Page on its website, e-Newsletters, billing inserts, Instagram and Facebook postings.
- RCD staff also participate in groundwater management planning forums, stakeholder forums, and outreach events to provide updates and receive feedback from the community related to conservation and sustainable water management.

Groundwater Management

The County has worked with the water agencies, small water system operators, and private wells for many years to manage groundwater, a critical source of drinking water in the county. The County continues to coordinate submission of groundwater level data to the State's 'CASGEM' groundwater monitoring program. In addition to this required monitoring, County staff is also offering free well soundings to private well owners throughout the county.

The City of Santa Cruz (City) and Soquel Creek Water District (SqCWD) are continuing to analyze the efficacy of water transfers in reducing groundwater pumping from the Mid-County Basin. A 5-year pilot project occurred from November 2015 through December 2020 and was extended through April 2026 to capture five winter seasons. The pilot study includes transferring water from the City's to SqCWD's distribution system to evaluate any water quality, water quantity and operational challenges. The first year of transfer (Phase I) began in December 2018. Phase II of the water transfer began on December 6, 2019 and extended through February 1, 2020 when the intertie was closed due to the lack of available supply. Transfers are dependent upon the City's available excess water supply and SqCWD's system demand that included all of Service Area 1 with approximately 5,200 connections. In WY 2020, approximately 35 million gallons were transferred to SqCWD. Over the course of the initial 5-year pilot project, approximately 269 afy was transferred from the City to SqCWD. The ongoing drought prevented the City from transferring water for the remainder of the agreement's term, December 31, 2020. The City did accept 2MG of water from Soquel Creek during an emergency transfer when the City was facing operational challenges.

The RCD continues to facilitate the Community Water Dialogue (CWD), a stakeholder group addressing aquifer overdraft in the Pajaro Valley. During 2021, the CWD Guidance Team held quarterly meetings and exchanged updates on managed aquifer recharge, conservation, and groundwater sustainability planning. The CWD email list-serve was used to perform outreach for the Pajaro Valley Groundwater Sustainability Update Community Meeting in Sept. 2021. The Guidance Team decided not to hold an inperson community outreach event this year.

SUSTAINABLE GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT

The Sustainable Groundwater Management Act of 2014 (SGMA) went into effect on January 1, 2015 and is a key driver for developing long-range plans for groundwater sustainability. In addition to the work

required under SGMA, the individual agencies that depend on groundwater for some or all of their water supply continue to implement projects and management actions. The County led a process to develop a regional data management system to help the GSAs meet the requirements of SGMA, and additionally to collect and organize data collected by all of the water agencies in the County. There are several advantages to a regional system, it will provide a robust storage system for critical historical data, it will make it easier to compare data across agencies, and the portal will make it easy for interested parties to view results. The data management system will use the Water Information System by Kisters (WISKI) software. Historical data from all the water agencies has been added and the vendor is now creating the public portal, which should go live in early 2022.

The County is actively working with local water agencies to pursue sustainability for the three major groundwater basins in the County as follows:

- Santa Margarita Basin Management of the Santa Margarita Basin is overseen by a JPA consisting of the County, the Scotts Valley Water District, and the San Lorenzo Valley Water District. This JPA is referred to as the Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency (SMGWA), which is the GSA for the basin. The SMGWA governing board includes two private well representatives, two representatives from each partner agency, and one representative each from the City of Scotts Valley, the City of Santa Cruz, and the Mount Hermon Association. The Santa Margarita Groundwater Basin has experienced a significant historical decline in groundwater levels, particularly in the South part of the Basin near Scotts Valley and has also seen reduction in streamflow. While groundwater levels stabilized and are no longer declining, they have not seen any recovery. The analysis shows a clear need to implement at least modest projects in order to maintain sustainability. The GSP for Santa Margarita was adopted by the GSA Board in November 2021 and submitted to DWR in January 2022. DWR has until 2024 to review the GSP²⁰.
- <u>Santa Cruz Mid-County Basin</u> Management of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Basin is overseen by a Joint Powers Authority (JPA) consisting of the County of Santa Cruz, City of Santa Cruz, Soquel Creek Water District and Central Water District. This JPA is referred to as the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA), which is the Groundwater Sustainability Agency (GSA) for the basin. The MGA governing board includes three private well representatives and two representatives from each partner agency. The Mid-County Basin is designated by the State as being in a condition of critical overdraft due primarily to the risk of seawater intrusion on the aquifers. Groundwater extraction has also reduced streamflow in parts of the Basin. Despite significant improvement of coastal groundwater levels due to water conservation and pumping redistribution, the groundwater modeling done for the GSP demonstrates that projects will be necessary to achieve sustainability.
 - In June 2021, the MGA learned that their Groundwater Sustainability Plan²¹ had been approved by Department of Water Resources (DWR). As of the writing of this report, the GSP remains one of only two approved Plans, the other is that of the nearby Salinas Valley Basin Groundwater Sustainability Agency. Work continues on GSP implementation, with current efforts including expanding the monitoring network of wells and stream gages, and developing a metering program for large private water users.

²⁰ www.smgwa.org

²¹ www.midcountygroundwater.org

Water Advisory Commission Page F.1-23

- Soquel Creek Water District (SqCWD) continues to implement the Pure Water Soquel Program (Program)²² to address the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Basin overdraft situation and prevent seawater intrusion from moving further inland. The Program's design capacity is 1,500 acre-feet per year (afy) and it has been included as a primary Group 2 Project in the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP). Collaboration with the regional agencies (City of Santa Cruz, County of Santa Cruz, City of Capitola, and the Regional Transportation Commission) continues to be an important part of the Program. In 2021, the Seawater Intrusion Prevention Wells Project was completed, construction began on the Conveyance Infrastructure Project, and design was completed on the Treatment Facilities Project.
- <u>The Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency</u> The Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency (PV Water) is the designated groundwater sustainability agency (GSA) of the Pajaro Valley Basin. PV Water submitted the Basin Management Plan Update (2014), the Integrated Hydrologic Model of Pajaro Valley Report, the Salt and Nutrient Management Plan, and other supporting documentation to DWR as a Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP) Alternative in 2016. In July 2019, DWR determined that the GSP Alternative satisfies the objectives of the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act and issued approval, making the Pajaro Valley Basin the first critically overdrafted basin in California to have an approved plan.

In October 2020, PV Water initiated the Basin Management Plan: Groundwater Sustainability Update 2022 (GSU22). The GSU22 effort is a mandated 5-year update of PV Water's GSP Alternative that focuses on addressing ten recommendations from DWR to strengthen the plan and facilitate its review. The GSU22 process was guided by a 17-member Ad Hoc Sustainable Groundwater Planning Advisory Committee and included the development of sustainable management criteria for seawater intrusion, surface water depletion, groundwater dependent ecosystems, interconnected surface waters and chronic lowering of groundwater levels. The final GSU22 was adopted by the PV Water Board of Directors in November 2021 and will be submitted to DWR by January 1, 2022.

MANAGED AQUIFER RECHARGE

Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) is a landscape management strategy that can help support groundwater supply by capturing stormwater in an infiltration system (typically a strategically designed basin) where it can then infiltrate into the aquifer. Since 2016, the RCD, the University of California, Santa Cruz (UCSC) and private landowners have collaborated to implement three active MAR projects in the Pajaro Valley with funding from DWR, USDA NRCS, California Coastal Conservancy and State Water Resources Control Board. (A fourth system, a drywell recharge system, was also installed but is not providing desirable results.) Monitoring results for the three systems indicate that to date, they have collectively contributed about 565 acre-feet of water through infiltration into the groundwater basin. During water years 2020 and 2021 (two rainfall years) about 221 acre-feet of water were infiltrated as a result of these projects. Additionally, water quality monitoring indicates that these projects likely help to improve groundwater quality. Data indicate that water infiltrated in the MAR basins had lower Nitrate [NO3-N] levels than ambient groundwater.

The RCD, UCSC, PV Water and private landowners continue to collaborate to implement the Recharge Net Metering (ReNeM) Program in the Pajaro Valley. This innovative program includes collaborating with landowners to install MAR systems on their land, monitoring the performance of the systems, and providing a financial incentive to the landowners based on the volume of water infiltrated. Initially launched in 2016 as a 5-year pilot program, in September 2021 the PV Water Board of Directors approved continuation of the ReNeM Program beyond its pilot phase, based on the positive, cost-

²² www.soquelcreekwater.org/pws

Water Advisory Commission Page F.1-24

effective results of the program to date. Since water year 2017, the program has resulted in a total 553 acre-feet of water infiltrating into the groundwater basin resulting in \$63,002 in rebates issued to landowners/growers by PV Water.

During water years 2020 and 2021, two MAR systems were included in the ReNeM program, and a third was enrolled. During summer 2021, these three infiltration systems were carefully prepared by the landowners/growers to optimize infiltration during this water year (water year 2022). Maintenance included scraping and removing fine sediments that had accumulated in the basins, disking the floor of the basins, and in one basin, adding carbon amendments in the form of woodchips to the base of the infiltration basin to enhance removal of nitrate from water as it infiltrates. UCSC researchers instrumented the systems with a variety of monitoring equipment to determine volume captured, volume infiltrated, and quality of water infiltrated during this water year.

Building Resiliency and Preparedness

The importance of resiliency and preparedness for emergencies of varied scope, intensity, and duration has been demonstrated repeatedly. Multiple stressors on water resources include drought, the aftermath of the CZU lightning fires, and responding to changing water use patterns in response to the COVID19 pandemic. The Board of Supervisors created the new Office of Response, Recovery and Resilience (OR3) in November 2020 in the aftermath of the CZU August Lightning Complex fires. The new OR3 employs a comprehensive approach to manage the impacts of disasters and build resilience through community preparedness, climate change awareness and adaptation, hazard mitigation, coordinated response and recovery. With the County of Santa Cruz water supply resources managed by a collection of public and private water agencies, private wells as well as small water communities the OR3 will support efforts to consolidate and build resilience to all water providers and will support collaborative efforts to identify new funding to build County climate change resilience water supply and water quality projects.

Drought Response

Water year 2021 was the second consecutive dry year: rainfall was around 50% of average in 2021 following only 75% of average rainfall in 2020. All the large water supply agencies are in a declared drought stage (see Attachment 1). Vulnerability to water supply challenges, system preparedness, and the need for back-up or emergency water supply is a focus of each community system sanitary survey and inspection.

SB 552, approved by Governor Newsom September 23, 2021, requires the creation of a county drought task force to improve preparedness for state small water systems (5-14 connections) and domestic wells with less than 5 connections. Drinking Water Program staff are working the County Water Advisory Commission, along with staff from the County Office of Response, Recovery and Resilience (OR3) to establish this task force. Representatives from local and state governments, community organizations, local water suppliers, and residents will be invited to participate in this effort. During this process, the task force will identify potential drought and water shortage conditions and propose short-term and long-term solutions.

Drinking Water Program staff have coordinated with small water systems to evaluate current drought impacts and identify needs. The County has requested state funding from the Department of Water Resources and the State Water Resources Control Board for specific small water system infrastructure needs and drought recovery resources for domestic wells. Small water systems will be required to implement certain resiliency measures per SB 552, depending on system type and size. These requirements fall under the purview of the Drinking Water Program, and County staff will work with water systems to ensure these measures are implemented.

In response to the current drought conditions, the state has made emergency drought funding available for local agencies and small water systems. The region is poised to take advantage of these State-developed drought relief programs as follows:

- The County Water Resources program has submitted a request for \$426,000 to build the County's capacity to respond to drought and help the community, particularly private wells and small water systems that are otherwise on their own. Funding would be used to conduct outreach to private well owners to inform them about resources, provide well soundings and water quality testing, and create a reserve fund for hauled water and water quality point of use equipment.
- In September 2021, Davenport County Sanitation District applied for \$3.6M grant funding through the Department of Water Resources' Small Community Drought Relief Program. The funding will enable permitting, design, and construction of a 700,000-gallon water tank to store treated water during drought conditions or if surface water quality is unsuitable for treatment. The stored water could also be used for fire protection.
- The SLVWD's Board of Directors approved consolidation with Big Basin Water Company, Forest Springs Mutual, and Brackenbrae Mutual. In November 2021 the District was approved for grant funding through the Department of Water Resources Small Community Drought Relief Program to consolidate the two small water systems of Bracken Brae and Forest Springs been impacted by drought into SLVWD.

The State Water Resources Control Board approved a Temporary Urgency Change Petition for the City of Santa Cruz in order to preserve storage in Loch Lomond during the dry conditions characterizing 2021. Other supplemental water sources include the use Aquifer Storage and Recovery (ASR) to increase groundwater storage for use during drought. The City of Santa Cruz is evaluating the efficacy of injecting treated surface water into the Mid-County and/or Santa Margarita groundwater basin. The City completed a pilot ASR test in their Beltz 12 production well located on Research Park Drive in July 2019 with no operational or water quality issues found. The second phase of pilot testing involved the second of four existing groundwater wells, Beltz 8. Two new monitoring wells were drilled at the Beltz 8 site and Pleasure Point between January and March 2020 and pilot testing to inject and extract water over three increasingly-longer cycles commenced shortly thereafter. Cycles 1 and 2 were completed in May; Cycle 3 was postponed until further data collection and evaluation could be completed related to unexpectedly higher levels of Arsenic. ASR pilot testing at the Beltz 8 site resumed late March 2021 and continued through June 2021. The Cycle 3 test program was split into Cycles 3a and 3b to generate the data needed to validate the geochemical evaluation to understand any risk associated with elevated arsenic concentrations appearing during Cycle 2. Beltz 8 ASR Cycle 3a consisted of two weeks of injection, four weeks of resting, and two weeks of extraction. Similar to Beltz 8, an ASR Demonstration Study at Beltz 12 is also scheduled for the period of January 2022 through December 2023.

- The analysis of data resulting from Cycle 3a indicates that the presence of arsenic in the aquifer matrix initially exposed during ASR Cycles 1 and 2 decreased during ASR Cycle 3a and indicated further arsenic reduction with incremental ASR cycles and longer storage time of the injected water. Based on these findings the City decided to conduct piloting for an extended duration, referred to as an ASR Demonstration Study.
- This Demonstration Study is similar to the pilot study in that infrastructure will not be improved or made permanent, and data collection objectives are established to inform a permanent facility, but differs in that the scale (i.e., the seasonal nature of injections and extractions, injection and extraction rates and seasonal volumes) matches that of a full-scale permanent operation. The demonstration study will continue to evaluate arsenic mobilization as well as
other operational characteristics such as sustainable flow rates, plugging characteristics, overall well operations, etc.

Since 2014 when the Soquel Creek Water District's (SqCWD) Board of Directors declared a Groundwater Emergency due to groundwater overdraft and seawater intrusion, SqCWD has been in a Stage 3 water supply shortage. The current Stage 3 shortage calls for SqCWD customers to collectively use 25% less water than SqCWD's expected highest production of 3,900 acre-feet per year. This curtailment target equates to an efficient residential water use guideline of 50-55 gallons per capita per day (gpcd). While SqCWD groundwater production has rebounded several hundred acre-feet from the 2015 low (during the height of the statewide drought) of approximately 3,100 acre-feet, residential customers are still using water efficiently at a rate of about 55 gpcd based on a running 2021 annual average.

Fire response and Preparedness

Following the CZU Lightning Complex Fire, the SLVWD, in conjunction the State Water Resources Control Board Division of Drinking Water (DDW), issued a Do Not Drink-Do Not Boil (DND-DNB) water notice on August 28th, 2020 as a precaution to all service areas impacted by the fire. Prior to and following the issuance of the DND-DNB notice, SLVWD crews executed a comprehensive flushing and water quality testing of over 400 samples²³. Inside of the DND-DNB notice area, SLVWD crews physically removed SLVWD owned service laterals connecting the water main to any structures that had burned from the water distribution system. Based on water quality test results, the DND-DNB notice was lifted on October 27th, 2020. In addition, the SLVWD developed a Long-Term VOC Monitoring Plan to track potential contamination in the distribution system in the months and years following the CZU Lightning Complex fire. All results of the Long-Term VOC Monitoring are regularly posted on the SLVWD's website²⁴

Immediately post-fire, the SLVWD engaged multiple contractors repair critical infratructure:

- Foreman Creek diversion and pipeline to Lyon treatment plant. This allowed the treatment plant to be brought back online and resume providing treated surface water to the North system.
- Piping between Lyon tank, Little Lyon tank, and Big Steel tank. The replacement of this burned pipeline allowed the Lyon and Little Lyon tanks to be returned to service.
- Little Lyon tank was recoated, interior and exterior, to eliminate VOC contamination.
- Riverside Grove Pump Station was re-roofed to correct fire damage

The SLVWD prepared a Fire Management Plan in 2020 through partnership with Panorama Environmental INC. The plan includes mapping, road access for fire personnel and improve communications with Fire Prevention Agencies. The final plan was adopted by Board of Director's on June 3, 2021 and implementation is beginning to take place through state grant funding. In 2020/2021 the District has secured the following fuel reduction and planning grants: \$200,000 through the Coastal Conservancy's Wildfire Resilience Grant program; \$6,822.00 through CALFIRE's California Forest Improvement Program (CFIP); and \$440,000 through CALFIRE's Forest Health Grant.

Flood, Climate Change, and Emergency Preparedness

Governor Newsom signed SB 496 (Laird) on September 24, 2021, which authorizes the State Department of Water Resources (DWR) to provide 100% cost share of non-federal capital costs to critical investments in emergency preparedness. SB 496 underscores DWR's commitment to prioritize multi-

²³ Monitoring parameters included: Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC's), Nitrate, bacteriological samples and general physical samples.

²⁴ www.slvwd. com/water-quality/pages/long-term-voc-monitoringpost-czu-fire Water Advisory Commission Page F.1-27

benefit projects in communities where residents are economically disadvantaged. This legislation will enable communities to implement and maintain necessary and long-awaited flood risk reduction solutions.

The Santa Cruz County Flood Control and Water Conservation District continues to refine and expand County-wide stream and rain gage monitoring capability to support enhanced situational awareness and emergency response. This activity includes enhanced web-based, publicly accessible data as well as improved communication and support of the County Emergency Operations Center and Emergency Management personnel. District staff continue to maintain operation of the Automated Local Evaluation in Real Time (ALERT) flood warning system. This system has recently been expanded to include 7 additional rain gaging sites and additional online monitoring features in support of emergency response for debris flows emanating from the CZU Lightning Complex burn scar. Staff have also been highly engaged with the State WERT Team, other federal and State technical specialists, and the County Geologist in assessing debris flow hazards and working to support emergency warnings and response for debris flows.

The City of Watsonville adopted the 2030 Climate Action and Adaptation in October of this year. The plan lays out a pathway for the City to cut emissions, prepare for the impacts of climate change, and engage in ecological restoration. Strategies to reduce emissions will focus on electric vehicle adoption, building electrification, and organic waste management. The plan builds on the City's Local Hazard Mitigation Plan to develop further adaptation strategies. The ecological restoration section focuses on projects and concepts that will help to draw excess carbon from the atmosphere and return it to the soil. The plan also recognizes that significant support from the State and Federal government, along with policy changes, are necessary to achieve the level of action required to adequately address climate change. The plan was developed with input from stakeholders and community members and includes efforts to foster green job creation and community development.

The Santa Cruz County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 (Zone 7), Monterey County Water Resources Agency (MCWRA), City of Watsonville, County of Santa Cruz, and County of Monterey have joined together to form the Pajaro Regional Flood Management Agency—a regional Joint Powers Agency that will oversee operations and maintenance of the Pajaro River levee systems as well as capital improvements addressing flood risk reduction in the Pajaro Valley area, including the levee reconstruction project on the Pajaro River.

The Santa Cruz County Flood Control and Water Conservation District has been awarded a Flood Emergency Response Grant from the California Department of Water Resources in the amount of \$725,467 to fund the configuration, installation, and operation of an enhanced weather monitoring system. The system will monitor real-time rainfall across the County via X-band radar and will drastically improve the predictive capability of flooding events through the provision of higher spatial and temporal resolution of inbound and overhead storm systems. Using a competitive Invitation for Bid, a contractor has now been selected to build the radar system. Initial installation of the system is expected to occur in early 2022, with the hope that operational testing of the system can be initiated in winter of 2022-23.

The Pajaro Regional Flood Management Agency (PRFMA), with the two existing non-federal project sponsors (Zone 7 and MCWRA), continue to pursue implementation of a flood risk reduction project with the Army Corps of Engineers to significantly upgrade the flood conveyance system to provide an adequate level of flood protection for the Pajaro River, Salsipuedes Creek, and Corralitos Creek. Sufficient federal funding has now been awarded (\$4.615M) to complete the Preconstruction Engineering and Design Phase for the Project, which is expected to take 2-3 years. Project sponsors are currently seeking federal investment in construction through the pending infrastructure package that leverage the Project's Natural and Nature-based Solution using setback levees and the Project's protection to disadvantaged communities in Watsonville and Pajaro.

The City of Watsonville was awarded a \$200,000 Climate Resiliency Challenge grant through the Bay Area Council Foundation to create a Green Infrastructure and Implementation Plan (GIIP). Through the GIIP, the City will look for opportunities to reduce impacts of climate change to the community by increasing water quality supply, reducing flooding, combating urban heat island effect, and improving neighborhood vitality and overall community aesthetics. The City is finalizing the priority projects and working on implementation of key concepts through the City's Ramsay Park Master Plan effort. The Green Infrastructure and Implementation Plan will be used in parallel with future City wide planning efforts in order to reduce the effects of climate change in the urban environment.

Supplemental Water Supply Projects

The County, City of Santa Cruz Water Department (City), SLVWD, and Scotts Valley Water District continue to collaborate on a Memorandum of Agreement to work together on exploring conjunctive water use options in the San Lorenzo Watershed and Santa Margarita Groundwater Basin. These efforts will explore many ways to utilize excess winter surface water when available to increase groundwater storage and water supply reliability and increase dry season stream flow.

In September 2020, the Scotts Valley Water District board received a final report (prepared by Kennedy Jenks Consultants), which scored and ranked three local and three regional recycled water project alternatives. Due to the recent issues and challenges at the City of Scotts Valley's Wastewater Reclamation Facility, the City commissioned Kennedy Jenks Consultants to prepare an options study for their wastewater treatment facility. The SVWD is waiting for the results of that study to help to determine the recycled water supply strategy. Meanwhile, the SVWD is having preliminary discussions with the City of Santa Cruz and Soquel Creek Water District to assess the viability of regional recycled water supply projects.

The City of Santa Cruz Water Department continues to implement the Santa Cruz Water Rights project to improve the City's water system flexibility while enhancing stream flows for local anadromous fisheries. The project includes changes to the City's existing water rights in terms of places of use (including diversion to groundwater storage), points of diversion, and extension of time to beneficially use existing rights under existing permits. The City is not proposing to increase any rate or total amount of water diverted. This project is needed to facilitate regional supply projects. Certification of the Final Environmental Impact Report will be considered by City Council at their December 14, 2021 meeting.

The City of Santa Cruz is continuing the evaluation of the role that recycled water may play in a future water supply portfolio by implementing Phase 2 of the Recycled Water Study to consider alternatives that contribute to water supply: groundwater injection in the Mid-County and/or Santa Margarita groundwater basins, use for irrigation, and direct potable.

The City of Santa Cruz Water Department has begun developing a water supply implementation plan for the work plan recommended by the Water Supply Advisory Committee in 2015. The plan will also be informed by a vulnerability analysis of the water system that incorporates future uncertainties related to climate change and water supply variability in the context of the inherent water system vulnerabilities. The vulnerability assessment uses a modeling approach to simulate changes in climate and weather, river flow, and system operations. The Weather Generator is one model that provides insights into thresholds of changes in key climate parameters that impact system resiliency, and in finalizing a new operations model. This work is ongoing through the remainder of the calendar year and will inform the implementation plan in Calendar Year 2022.

Attachment 1: Water Use in Santa Cruz County, 2021 (Data for smaller systems is from 2020)

| | | | Water Use acre- | Ground | Surface | Recycled | |
|--------------------------------------|-------------|-------------|--------------------|--------|---------|----------|----------|
| Water Supplier | Connections | Population* | feet/yr | water | Water | Water | Imported |
| Santa Cruz City Water Dept. | 24,589 | 96,168 | 7,914 | 5.0% | 93.0% | 2% | |
| Watsonville City Water Service | 14,884 | 65,231 | 7,040 | 100.0% | 0.0% | | |
| Soquel Creek Water District | 14,500 | 40,644 | 3,259 | 100.0% | 0.0% | | |
| San Lorenzo Valley Water District | 7,900 | 23,700 | 1,961 | 70.0% | 30.0% | | |
| Scotts Valley Water District | 3,946 | 10,749 | 1,299 | 83.0% | | 16% | 1.0% |
| Central Water District | 825 | 2,706 | 405 | 100.0% | | | |
| Big Basin Water Company | 482 | 1,120 | 205 | 37.0% | 63.0% | | |
| Mount Hermon Association | 494 | 2,850 | 155 | 100.0% | | | |
| Forest Lakes Mutual Water Company | 326 | 1,067 | 40 | 100.0% | | | |
| Smaller Water Systems (5-199 conn.) | 2,616 | 7,691 | 1,212 | 91.0% | 6.0% | | 3% |
| Individual Users* | 8,000 | 21,000 | 2,350 | 95.0% | 5.0% | | |
| Pajaro Agriculture (SC Co only)**† | | | 23,750 | 94.0% | 1.0% | 5% | |
| Mid- & North-County Agriculture* | | | 2,400 | 90.0% | 10.0% | | |
| Totals | 78,562 | 272,926 | 51,990 | 80% | 17% | 3% | 0.1% |
| Summary by Water Source (acre-fe | | 41,642 | 8,746 | 1,524 | 36 | | |
| Summary of Non-Agricultural Use | 25,840 | 17,157 | 8,268 | 337 | 36 | | |

*Values are Estimates

** Includes a small number of water systems

[†] Recycled water source is the City of Watsonville

Highlighted cells are awaiting

updates

Attachment 2: Current Water Use Restrictions and Conservation Services in Santa Cruz County

| Agency | Water Source | Drought Stage | Current Restrictions | Services being Offered | Supplemental Supply Projects |
|--|--|---------------------------|--|---|---|
| City of Santa Cruz Water Department | Surface water (95%) Ground Water (5%) | Stage 1 Water Shortage | Plumbing Retrofit Program: Homes must be retrofitted with low flow fixtures at time of sale During a Stage 1 Water Shortage Warning, each customer class (residential, commercial, irrigation,) is provided with a monthly allotment of water. No overage fees assessed in Stage 1 Landscape Irrigation budgets reduced by 25% | Home Water Survey Free Conservation devices WaterSmart Leak notification Rebates • Toilet replacement • Energy Star Appliances • Laundry to Landscape • Lawn replacement • Rain Barrels • Hot Water Recirculation | Aquifer Storage and Recovery Water Exchanges with Soquel Creek Water District during high surface water flow periods Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency Member Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency Cooperating Agency |
| Scotts Valley Water District | Ground Water (100%) | Stage 2 Water Shortage | Plumbing Retrofit Program: Homes must be retrofitted with low flow fixtures at time of sale Customers asked to water outdoors not more than two times a week. Restaurants encouraged to only serve water upon request Recommended that hotels give guests an option to not launder bed sheets every day. | Free Conservation devices WaterSmart Leak notification Rebates Toilet replacement Pressure reducing valves Graywater irrigation Lawn Replacement Rainwater catchment Downspout diversion Replace hardscape with permeable surfaces Weather Smart irrigation controllers | Recycled Water facility for Irrigation Stormwater Capture for Groundwater Recharge Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency Member |

| Agency | Water Source | Drought Stage | Current Restrictions | Services being Offered | Supplemental Supply Projects |
|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------|--|--|--|
| | | | | High Volume to Rotary Spray Head Replacement | |
| Soquel Creek Water District | Ground Water (100%) | Stage 3 water shortage | Efficient water use: annual average of 50-55 gallons per person, per day Car Washing Restriction: a waterless spray, a bucket and hose with an automatic shut-off nozzle, and/or a pressure washer. Minimize water running off the property. Exterior Structure Washing Restriction: No exterior washing of structures unless for sanitation and health purposes, or if preparing to paint or stain and a pressure washer is used. | Free Conservation devices WaterSmart Leak notification Grants for projects promoting conservation awareness Rebates • Landscape replacement • Toilet replacement • Showerhead replacement • Washing Machines • Drip irrigation retrofit • Graywater irrigation • Weather Smart Irrigation Controller • Rain sensors • Hot Water Recirculation • Pool Covers • Pressure reducing valves • Rain catchment • Downspout diversion • Sub-metering | Construction of Pure Water Soquel to limit seawater intrusion Surface Water transfers from City of Santa Cruz Stormwater Capture for Groundwater Recharge Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency Member |
| San Lorenzo Valley Water District | Surface water & Ground Water | Stage 2 Water Shortage | No watering between the hours of 10AM - 5PM. Outdoor irrigation is permitted only 2 days a week | Free Water-Wise Audit Free Conservation devices Rebates | Conjunctive Use of Surface and Groundwater sources Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency Member |

| Agency | Water Source | Drought Stage | Current Restrictions | Services being Offered | Supplemental Supply Projects |
|--|---|---------------------------|--|--|--|
| | (% Varies) | | Do not wash down hard or paved surfaces. Do not initially fill or refill residential swimming pools. Shut-off nozzles are required on all hoses. | Toilet replacement High efficiency washer Graywater irrigation Weather Smart irrigation controllers | |
| City of Watsonville | Surface water (10%) Ground Water (90%) | Stage 1 Water Shortage | Plumbing Retrofit Program: Homes must be retrofitted with low flow fixtures at time of sale | Water Consultations Rebates Landscape replacement Toilet replacement Washing Machines | Water source for Recycled Water Treatment Facility provides recycled water for crop irrigation |
| Central Water | Ground Water (100%) | None declared | Subject to County restrictions | Rebates• Toilet replacement• High efficiency washer | Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency member agency |
| | | | | Recharge Net Metering | Coastal Distribution System- Pipeline Expansion Project |
| Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency | Ground Water Manager | Not Applicable | ble Does not supply potable water, however does supply recycled water for crop irrigation. | Rebates Rainwater Catchment Laundry to Landscape | College Lake Integrated Resources Management Project |
| | | | Delivered recycled water for irrigation along the coast. | Watsonville Slough System Managed Aquifer Recharge and Recovery Projects | |
| | | | | | |

| Agency | Water Source | Drought Stage | Current Restrictions | Services being Offered | Supplemental Supply Projects |
|--|-----------------|--|---|--|--|
| County of Santa Cruz Small Water Systems (5-199 connections) Private Well Owners | Ground Water | Acknowledged State of Drought Emergency | Plumbing Retrofit Program: Homes must be retrofitted with low flow fixtures at time of sale No wasteful water use No operating ornamental fountain or cooling system that doesn't re- circulate water Outdoor water Restrictions No hosing off hardscapes No irrigation run-off Shut-off nozzle required on hoses Leaks must be repaired Limit outside watering to 2 days per week for 15 minutes No spray irrigation 10am-5pm | Well sounding Water quality testing Developing drought response program | Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency Member Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency Member Stormwater Capture for Groundwater Recharge |



Attachment 3: Municipal water use and rainfall, 1984-2021

Attachment <mark>4: Coastal Groundwater Levels, Mid-County Basin,</mark> <mark>New Brighton area</mark>

(Needs to be updated)



Attachment 5: Common Acronyms

| AF | Acre Foot |
|-------|---|
| AFY | Acre Foot per Year |
| BMP | Best Management Practices |
| CEQA | California Environmental Quality Act |
| CWD | Central Water District |
| DMS | Data Management System |
| DPW | Santa Cruz County Department of Public Works |
| DWR | Department of Water Resources |
| EIR | Environmental Impact Report |
| GSA | Groundwater Sustainability Agency |
| GSP | Groundwater Sustainability Plan |
| IRWM | Integrated Regional Water Management |
| JPA | Joint Powers Agreement |
| LAFCO | Local Agency Formation Commission |
| LID | Low Impact Development |
| MGA | Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency |
| MGD | Million Gallons per Day |
| MGY | Million Gallons per Year |
| 0&M | Operations and Maintenance |
| PPB | Parts Per Billion |
| RCD | Resource Conservation District of Santa Cruz County |
| RWMF | Regional Water Management Foundation |
| SCWD | Santa Cruz Water Department |
| SGMA | Sustainable Groundwater Management Act |
| SLVWD | San Lorenzo Valley Water District |
| SMGWA | Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency |
| SqCWD | Soquel Creek Water District |
| SVWD | Scotts Valley Water District |
| | |

Attachment 6: Online Resources

| County Water Resources Program | http://scceh.com/Home/Programs/WaterResources.aspx |
|---|---|
| County Water Quality Map | http://scceh.com/waterquality.aspx |
| County Steelhead Monitoring Program | http://scceh.com/steelhead.aspx |
| Santa Cruz County Fire Recovery | http://www.co.santa-cruz.ca.us/FireRecovery.aspx |
| Central Water District | https://sites.google.com/view/centralwaterdistrict |
| City of Santa Cruz Water Department | https://www.cityofsantacruz.com/government/city- departments/water |
| City of Watsonville Public Works and Utilities | https://www.cityofwatsonville.org/590/Public-Works- Utilities |
| San Lorenzo Valley Water District (SLVWD) | https://www.slvwd.com/ |
| Scotts Valley Water District (SVWD) | https://www.svwd.org/ |
| Soquel Creek Water District (SqCWD) | https://www.soquelcreekwater.org/ |
| Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency (PV Water) | https://www.pvwater.org/ |
| Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA) | https://www.midcountygroundwater.org/ |
| Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency (SMGWA) | https://smgwa.org/ |
| Resource Conservation District of Santa Cruz County (RCD) | http://www.rcdsantacruz.org/ |
| Santa Cruz Integrated Regional Water Management Plan (IRWM) | http://www.santacruzirwmp.org/ |
| Water Conservation Coalition of Santa Cruz County | https://watersavingtips.org/ |



County of Santa Cruz Health Services Agency Environmental Health Division 701 Ocean Street, Room 312 ❖ Santa Cruz, CA 95060 (831) 454-2022 ❖ Fax (831) 454-3128 https://www.scceh.org/

Subject: Dec 1, 2021 Water Advisory Commission Agenda Item F.2

Title: SB 552 Compliance

Attachments:

1. SB 552 language including staff highlighting

Recommended Action:

- 1. Motion to have the Water Advisory Commission adopt the responsibilities of SB 552 and act as the body overseeing implementation.
- 2. Form a subcommittee to work with staff to develop the alternative process to meet the requirements and intentions of SB 552 and advance other priorities for the County Water Resources Program.
- 3. Authorize the Chair to submit a written notice to the Board of Supervisors notifying them of the establishment of the subcommittee.

Background

On September 23, 2021, SB 552 was signed into law. SB 552 adds Part 2.56 (Drought Planning for Small Water Suppliers, State Small Water Systems, and Domestic Well Communities) to Division 6 of the Water Code. The purpose of the legislation is to provide resiliency for small water system (between 5-2999 connections) customers and people on individual and shared wells in the face of increasing droughts. While much of the language is specific to requirements for the largest of these systems, there are timelines for actions required of systems that the County regulates through our Local Primacy Agency. Additionally, Chapter 3 has requirements specific to the County.

Chapter 3 states that "a county shall establish a standing county drought and water shortage task force to facilitate drought and water shortage preparedness for state small water systems and domestic wells within the county's jurisdiction..." Outside agencies and interested parties must be invited to participate. The language does allow for an alternative process so long as opportunities for coordination and communication with outside interest groups and agencies are allowed for. The task force must be established by January 1, 2022 and should exist in perpetuity.

The task force or alternative process is required to produce a plan that includes, at minimum, all of the following:

- (1) Consolidations for existing water systems and domestic wells.
- (2) Domestic well drinking water mitigation programs.
- (3) Provision of emergency and interim drinking water solutions.
- (4) An analysis of the steps necessary to implement the plan.

(5) An analysis of local, state, and federal funding sources available to implement the plan.

Analysis

Staff has considered several options for how to address the requirements of SB 552. Upon careful consideration, staff believes that the development and maintenance in perpetuity of a separate body to oversee the requirements of SB 552 would be both burdensome and unnecessary. Through the alternative process outlined in the legislation, and after deliberation with County Counsel, staff recommends that the Water Advisory Commission adopt the responsibilities described in the Bill.

The first step in this process is to form a planning subcommittee of the WAC that will meet up to two times over the next two months to outline the process for compliance, reporting back at the February WAC meeting. The likely outcome is the formation of another subcommittee, which will include outside stakeholders, for the purpose of developing the required plan. This subcommittee could also offer an opportunity to advance some goals of the County Water Resources Program including updating the Water Wells (7.70) and Water System (7.71) Chapters.

By: ______ Sierra Ryan

Water Resources Manager

SB 552 Language

Highlighting: Systems the Santa Cruz County LPA Regulates; County obligations

More information available here:

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220SB552

SECTION 1.

Part 2.56 (commencing with Section 10609.50) is added to Division 6 of the Water Code, to read:

PART 2.56. Drought Planning for Small Water Suppliers, State Small Water Systems, and Domestic Well Communities

CHAPTER 1. General Provisions 10609.50.

The Legislature finds and declares all of the following:

(a) Droughts are predicted to become more frequent, longer, and more severe as climate change progresses, putting drinking water supplies at risk of running dry or becoming contaminated.

(b) As demonstrated by the most recent drought from 2012 to 2016, inclusive, (2012–16 drought) drought conditions disproportionally impact low-income, small, and rural communities, as demonstrated by all of the following:

(1) (A) Rural communities are more likely to rely solely on groundwater from small water suppliers or domestic wells.

(B) Domestic wells tend to be shallower and are susceptible to running dry when groundwater is overpumped.

(2) (A) The 2012–16 drought negatively impacted over 480,000 people relying on drought-impacted public water systems.

(B) Seventy-six percent of impacted public water systems were small, serving 1,000 service connections or fewer and concentrated in the southern San Joaquin Valley.

(c) There are currently varying levels of water contingency planning and coverage across counties for small water suppliers and self-supplied communities, leaving hundreds of thousands of people at risk of going without water to meet their basic household and drinking water needs during the next drought.

(d) If another drought occurs that is as severe as the 2012–16 drought, more than 4,500 domestic wells in the San Joaquin Valley may be impacted. The cost to mitigate this damage could be more than one hundred fifteen million dollars (\$115,000,000).

(e) No one should go without running water during a drought. California can take basic steps to implement more proactive drought planning that would benefit the communities most at risk, and by doing so help prevent catastrophic impacts on drinking water for the communities most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change.

10609.51.

For purposes of this part, the following definitions apply:

(a) "Community water system" has the same meaning as defined in Section 116275 of the Health and Safety Code.

(b) "County Drought Advisory Group" means the group created by the department to implement Chapter 10 (commencing with Section 10609.40) of Part 2.55.

(c) "Department" means the Department of Water Resources.

(d) "Domestic well" has the same meaning as defined in Section 116681 of the Health and Safety Code.

(e) "Fund expenditure plan" means the fund expenditure plan established in Section 116768 of the Health and Safety Code.

(f) "Groundwater sustainability agency" has the same meaning as defined in Section 10721.

(g) "Nontransient noncommunity water system" has the same meaning as defined in Section 116275 of the Health and Safety Code.

(h) "Public water system" has the same meaning as defined in Section 116275 of the Health and Safety Code.

(i) "Risk vulnerability tool" means the tool created by the department to implement Chapter 10 (commencing with Section 10609.40) of Part 2.55.

(j) "Rural community" means a community with fewer than 15 service connections, or regularly serving less than 25 individuals daily at least 60 days out of the year.

(k) "Small water supplier" means a community water system serving 15 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, and that provides less than 3,000 acre-feet of water annually.

(1) "State board" means the State Water Resources Control Board.

(m) "State small water system" has the same meaning as defined in Section 116275 of the Health and Safety Code.

CHAPTER 2. Small Water Suppliers and Nontransient Noncommunity Water Systems 10609.60.

(a) No later than July 1, 2023, and updated every five years thereafter, a small water supplier serving 1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, and a nontransient noncommunity water system that is a school shall each develop and maintain, onsite, an abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) that includes, at a minimum, all of the following drought-planning elements:

(1) Drought-planning contacts, including all of the following:

(A) At least one contact at the water system for water shortage planning and response and the development of the plan.

(B) Contacts for local public safety partners and potential vendors that can provide repairs or alternative water sources, including, but not limited to, local community-based organizations that work with the population in and around areas served by the water system, contractors for drilling wells, vended water suppliers, and emergency shower vendors.

(C) State and local agency contacts who should be informed when a drought or water shortage emergency is emerging or has occurred.

(D) Regional water planning groups or mutual aid networks, to the extent they exist.

(2) Triggering mechanisms and levels for action, including both of the following:

(A) Standard water shortage levels corresponding to progressive ranges based on the water supply conditions. Water shortage levels shall also apply to catastrophic interruption of water supplies, including, but not limited to, a regional power outage, an earthquake, a fire, and other potential emergency events.

(B) Water shortage mitigation, response, customer communications, enforcement, and relief actions that align with the water shortage levels required by subparagraph (A).

(b) A small water supplier serving 1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, and a nontransient noncommunity water system that is a school shall each make the abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan available on their individual internet websites, if any. A small water supplier serving 1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, or a nontransient noncommunity water system that is a school that does not have an internet website shall make the abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan available to persons upon request. The abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan shall be provided to the state board's Division of Drinking Water for inspection upon demand.

(c) A small water supplier serving fewer than 1,000 service connections shall add drought planning elements, including, but not limited to, those listed in paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) and subparagraph (A) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), to its emergency notification or response plan and submit the plan to the state board. The plan shall be updated every five years, or when significant changes occur.

(d) No later than December 31, 2022, the department and the state board shall create an abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan template for small water suppliers serving 1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, and nontransient noncommunity water systems that are schools to facilitate implementation of this section.

(e) To the extent that funding is made available, the state board shall offer technical assistance to small water suppliers serving fewer than 1,000 service connections and nontransient noncommunity water systems that are schools to improve drought and water shortage resiliency, including requirements related to the emergency notification or response plan.

10609.61.

A small water supplier and a nontransient noncommunity water system that is a school shall each report annually water supply condition information to the state board through the state board's Electronic Annual Reporting (eAR) System or other reporting tool, as directed by the state board. Water supply condition includes, but is not limited to, both of the following:

(a) An inventory and assessment of each water supply source, including its available status and if any further investments or treatment are required for its utilization, any lead time required for its utilization, and its delivery parameters such as flow rate and total volume available.

(b) The reporting year's total water demand volume for each month, and average and peak flowrate demand for each month and annually.

10609.62.

Small water suppliers and nontransient noncommunity water systems that are schools shall implement, subject to funding availability, all of the following drought resiliency measures:

(a) No later than January 1, 2023, implement monitoring systems sufficient to detect production well groundwater levels. (b) Beginning no later than January 1, 2023, maintain membership in the California Water/Wastewater Agency Response Network (CalWARN) or similar mutual aid organization<mark>.</mark>

(c) No later than January 1, 2024, to ensure continuous operations during power failures, provide adequate backup electrical supply.

(d) No later than January 1, 2027, have at least one backup source of water supply, or a water system intertie, that meets current water quality requirements and is sufficient to meet average daily demand.

(e) No later than January 1, 2032, meter each service connection and monitor for water loss due to leakages.

(f) No later than January 1, 2032, have source system capacity, treatment system capacity if necessary, and distribution system capacity to meet fire flow requirements.

10609.63.

This chapter does not apply to small water suppliers, or small water suppliers integrated into larger water systems, that voluntarily choose to instead comply with Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 10620) of Part 2.6.

CHAPTER 3. State Small Water Systems Serving 5 to 14 Service Connections, Inclusive, and Domestic Wells

10609.70.

(a) (1) A county shall establish a standing county drought and water shortage task force to facilitate drought and water shortage preparedness for state small water systems and domestic wells within the county's jurisdiction, and shall invite representatives from the state and other local governments, including groundwater sustainability agencies, and community-based organizations, local water suppliers, and local residents, to participate in the task force.

(2) In lieu of the task force required by paragraph (1), a county may establish an alternative process that facilitates drought and water shortage preparedness for state small water systems and domestic wells within the county's jurisdiction. The alternative process shall provide opportunities for coordinating and communicating with the state and other local governments, community-based organizations, local water suppliers, and local residents on a regular basis and during drought or water shortage emergencies.

(3) A county that establishes a drought task force on or before January 1, 2022, shall be deemed in compliance with this subdivision as long as the task force continues to exist.

(b) A county shall develop a plan that includes potential drought and water shortage risk and proposed interim and long-term solutions for state small water systems and domestic wells within the county's jurisdiction. The plan may be a stand-alone document or may be included as an element in an existing county plan, such as a local hazard mitigation plan, emergency operations plan, climate action plan, or general plan. A county shall consult with its drought task force or alternative coordinating process as established by this section in developing its plan. A county shall consider, at a minimum, all of the following in its plan:

(1) Consolidations for existing water systems and domestic wells.

(2) Domestic well drinking water mitigation programs.

(3) Provision of emergency and interim drinking water solutions.

(4) An analysis of the steps necessary to implement the plan.

(5) An analysis of local, state, and federal funding sources available to implement the plan.

(c) The state board shall work with counties, groundwater sustainability agencies, technical assistance providers, nonprofit organizations, community-based organizations, and the public to address state small water system and domestic well community drought and emergency water shortage resiliency needs, including both of the following:

(1) Proactive communication to domestic well communities before a drought occurs, such as information on local bottled water and water tank providers.

(2) Funding for installation of basic drought and emergency water shortage resiliency infrastructure, such as well monitoring devices.

CHAPTER 4. State Agency Implementation 10609.80.

(a) The department shall take both of the following actions to support implementation of the recommendations of its County Drought Advisory Group:

(1) Maintain, in partnership with the state board and other relevant state agencies, the risk vulnerability tool developed as part of the County Drought Advisory Group process and continue to refine existing data and gather new data for the tool, including, but not limited to, data on all of the following:

(A) Small water suppliers and nontransient noncommunity water systems serving a school.

(B) State small water systems and rural communities.

(C) Domestic wells and other self-supplied residents.

(2) Update the risk vulnerability tool for small water suppliers and rural communities periodically, by doing all of the following:

(A) Revise the indicators and construction of the scoring as more data becomes readily available.

(B) Make existing and new data publicly available on the California Open Data internet web portal.

(C) In consultation with other relevant state agencies, identify deficits in data quality and availability and develop recommendations to address these gaps.

(b) (1) The department, in collaboration with the state board and relevant state agencies, shall establish a standing interagency drought and water shortage task force to facilitate proactive state planning and coordination, both for predrought planning and postdrought emergency response, to develop strategies to enhance collaboration between various fields, and to consider all types of water users.

(2) The interagency drought and water shortage task force shall include representatives from local governments, community-based organizations, nonprofit technical assistance providers, the public, and experts in land use planning, water resiliency, and water infrastructure.

SEC. 2.

If the Commission on State Mandates determines that this act contains costs mandated by the state, reimbursement to local agencies and school districts for those costs shall be made pursuant to Part 7 (commencing with Section 17500) of Division 4 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

Water Advisory Commission

Work Plan

DRAFT - December 2021

OVERVIEW

Consistent with its by-laws, the Water Advisory Commission (WAC) will focus on priority water resource related issues, policies and projects, with the intent of taking one or more of the following actions:

- Advise the Board of Supervisors (BOS) on issues related to water resources.
- Work cooperatively with county departments, other county commissions, public and private agencies, and concerned members of the public, to formulate advice to the BOS.
- Serve as an information clearinghouse to the BOS and other County commissions.
- Advise the BOS on potential areas of cooperation with other public and private agencies and organizations.
- Provide a public forum to educate the WAC and the community.
- Support the work of County staff in implementing water resource programs.
- Monitor and evaluate implementation of key policies and programs and advise the BOS as needed.
- Proactively identify water resource issues of concern that are not being addressed by other advisory bodies to the BOS.

BACKGROUND

The Water Advisory Commission (Commission) was established in 1975 to serve as a policy advisory body to the Board of Supervisors (Board) on issues relating to the use and protection of the county's water resources. The Commission consists of seven members, five of whom are concerned citizens appointed by individual supervisors and two that are appointed at large. The two at large positions represent public water purveyors (200 or more connections) and private or mutual water companies (five to 199 connections) in the County. The Environmental Health Services (EHS) Division of the Health Services Agency provides staff support for the Commission. In August 2021, Sierra Ryan, Water Resources Manager, is serving as lead staff.

Staffing, funding, and other resources available to the Commission necessarily limit the duties and responsibilities of the Commission. Therefore, the Commission utilizes discretion in devoting time to those activities that are most important to achieving its overall goal of enhancing and preserving Santa Cruz County water resources. County departments (Planning, EHS, and Public Works (DPW) will assist the Commission in its work, by including the Commission in water related correspondence, and by having staff provide timely oral reports on pending issues. For more information about the Commission visit its <u>webpage</u>: https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/SantaCruzCounty/#!/SantaCruzCounty02/SantaCruzCounty0296.html.

PRIORITY ISSUES

1. SUSTAINABLE GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT

Background

The Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA), codified at Water Code §§10720 et seq., requires that groundwater basins form Groundwater Sustainability Agencies (GSAs) by 2015 and develop and implement plans to achieve sustainability. Santa Cruz County includes several groundwater basins as identified by the California Department of Water Resources, some of which are high priority and managed; others are low priority and not managed, <u>click here for a map viewer</u>. Groundwater basins in the county managed by a GSA include the Santa Margarita Basin, the Santa Cruz Mid-County Basin, and the Corralitos Basin.

From north to south, the three GSAs that exist within the County are: the <u>Santa Margarita</u> <u>Groundwater Agency</u> (est. 2015), the <u>Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency</u> (est. 2015), and the <u>Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency</u> (est. 1984). The County, while not a water purveyor, is involved in each of the three GSAs, either directly via a joint powers authority, or indirectly by means of committee-level participation. The County has the responsibility of reviewing and approving well permit applications, and many domestic wells as well as small state systems are located in unincorporated Santa Cruz County.

WAC Role

The WAC should maintain a focus on the issues of sustainable groundwater management, support regional supply planning efforts (especially in regard to developing conjunctive use and groundwater recharge opportunities), proactively engage the BOS in advancing support for sustainable regional water supply alternatives as they emerge, and advise the BOS as appropriate. The WAC should receive, review, and potentially accept regular reports from County staff and/or representatives from GSAs and the water purveyors within the County.

2. DROUGHT AND CLIMATE CHANGE IMPACTS ON WATER RESOURCES

Background

<u>California's Fourth Climate Change Assessment, Central Coast Region Report</u> (Langridge, 2018) states, "The Central Coast Region is notable for its extensive natural ecosystems, many of which will be impacted by climate change. Hardwood forests, scrublands, and herbaceous grasslands comprise most of its land cover, with significantly less intensive agriculture and small-to medium-sized cities in the region. There is a strong demand for development in rural areas and agriculture is being developed on lands formerly supporting grazing or natural vegetation. The region continues to reflect an economic and social disconnect between prosperous coastal communities and agricultural areas with many low-income farm workers, inequalities that may result in disadvantaged groups suffering disproportionately from the impacts of climate change."

With respect to water resources, the report states that climate changes that will affect the Central Coast include:

- Temperatures, both maximums and minimums, are anticipated to increase through the next century, with greater increases in the inland region.
- Precipitation is expected to increase slightly, but precipitation variability will increase substantially.
- Atmospheric river events are expected to increase.
- Sea level is expected to continue rising.
- Fog impacts are uncertain.
- Droughts are predicted to remain a serious challenge to already stressed water supplies.
- Water supply shortages, already common during drought, will be exacerbated.

In 2020, approximately 275,441 people used 51,593 acre-feet of water (including agricultural uses) within the County. Groundwater accounted for 78% of the total supply, surface water accounted for 19%, and recycled water accounted for 3% (<u>Santa Cruz County Water</u> <u>Resources Report for 2020</u>). Drought conditions lead to less rainfall, and less groundwater recharge, and resultin increased water use. Increased groundwater production may lead to lowering of groundwater levels, increased seawater intrusion, groundwater quality degradation, subsidence, and loss of interconnectivity between surfacestreams and groundwater dependent ecosystems.

WAC Role

The WAC should maintain a focus on drought and climate change impacts on water resources and receive, review, and potentially accept reports from County staff and/or experts in the field. The WAC should proactively engage with the BOS on issues related to climate change impacts on water resources and advise the BOS.

In response to SB 552, signed into law in September 2021, the WAC could form a Drought Task Force subcommittee, the composition of which would be determined by the WAC but which may include WAC Commissioners, outside experts, and potentially others. The subcommittee would be charged with preparing a plan for drought and water shortage risks and will include the following 5 elements at minimum:

- (1) Consolidations for existing water systems and domestic wells.
- (2) Domestic well drinking water mitigation programs.
- (3) Provision of emergency and interim drinking water solutions.
- (4) An analysis of the steps necessary to implement the plan.
- (5) An analysis of local, state, and federal funding sources available to implement the plan

3. PAJARO RIVER FLOOD PROTECTION PROJECT

Background

The Pajaro Flood Risk Reduction Project was authorized by the Flood Control Act of 1966 following overtopping and failure in 1955 of the original Army Corps levees built in 1949. The two local sponsors, the Zone 7 Flood Control District of Santa Cruz County and the Monterey County Water Resources Agency, have been working with the Corps since 1966 to

develop a preferred alternative and to finalize environmental review on an improved levee system that will more adequately address flooding in the lower Pajaro River system (including Salsipuedes Creek). In 2021, the Pajaro Regional Flood Management Agency (PRFMA), the "local sponsors," formed to plan, finance and implement projects and programs to reduce flood risk from the lower Pajaro River and its tributaries in Santa Cruz and Monterey Counties. The PRFMA is a joint powers authority of the County of Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz County Flood Control and Water Conservation Zone No. 7, the County of Monterey, the Monterey County Water Resources Agency, and the City of Watsonville.

WAC Role

The WAC should keep informed of the ongoing work of the PRFMA; receive, review, and potentially accept reports from County staff and/or PRFMA; and provide a recommendation to the BOS regarding adoption of a final plan/project alternative that supports improved watershed functions as well as provisions of adequate flood protection.

4. KARST PROTECTION ZONE PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT

Background

County codes have not historically provided protection for karst-derived water resources. These resources are disproportionately important for support of both municipal water supply and cold water fisheries (including coho and steelhead) and, due to their unique geology, are both limited in geographic scope and highly subject to degradation by anthropogenic disturbance.

In 2016, the BOS directed County departments to incorporate karst-protective language into future updates of their respective ordinances and policies. Environmental Health Services initiated updates of their onsite wastewater disposal ordinance, with such language in 2018, and Planning incorporated karst-protective standards in the commercial cannabis cultivation and manufacturing policies, also in 2018.

WAC Role

Review of geologic mapping to determine priority focus areas, periodic review of the status of policy and ordinance updates by County departments, review of the specific details of these changes and subsequent follow up with the BOS as appropriate, should be an ongoing focus for the WAC on this issue. Specifically, the WAC may advocate for protection of key karst zones in future General Plan updates.

5. ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING AND CODE COMPLIANCE PERFORMANCE

Background

The WAC has been aware that enforcementof County environmental and resource protection codes (Title 16) has been inconsistent.. Due to the dynamics of staffing, the pre-existing historic, non-conforming development that dominates most watersheds in the County, population pressure and other challenges, implementation of these codes is challenging.

Given the presence of special status listed species (e.g. steelhead and coho) in County streams, effective implementation of these codes is a high priority.

WAC Role

The WAC should continue to support these efforts. Specifically, the WAC may ask Planning to provide an annual update on code compliance program functions, advocate to the District Attorney's office their support for pursuit of prosecution of egregious violations, evaluate the future role of the County in timber harvest review, and consider how they can support implementation of the RCP(?) in the San Lorenzo River watershed as well as other watersheds throughout the County.

6. OTHER ISSUES AS NEEDED (TBD)

Background

The WAC occasionally becomes aware of issues that warrant investigation and interaction with the BOS regarding County policy. While many of these issues fall within broader subject areas already on the WAC agenda, other issues may arise that are outside of the WAC's current scope.

WAC Role

While the County is well supported by knowledgeable policy-makers and other water stakeholder groups that can inform the BOS, the WAC is the only advisory body specifically focused on water resource management, as enabled by County code, and should maintain and strengthen that role with the BOS as much as possible. These kind of urgent, new issues are not unusual, and maintaining the ability to respond to them in a timely manner is of great importance to the WAC. The meeting frequency of the BOS and WAC often limits the opportunity for timely engagement on new issues, but the WAC should endeavor to maintain involvement in them, nonetheless. Specifically, the WAC should exercise the option to hold emergency meetings to address issues like this as they arise.

7. COORDINATION WITH OTHER COUNTY COMMISSIONS

Background

In 2014, discussion was initiated between three Countycommissions (Commission on the Environment (COE), Fish and Wildlife Advisory Commission (FWAC) and Water Advisory Commission (WAC)) that have significant overlap in their scopes regarding protection of water resources and related environmentalissues. The Inter-Commission Coordination Working Group (ICCWG) was formed in an attempt to clarify the distinct and shared areas of focus of each commission.

WAC Role

Developing the three commissions' alignment around positions on water resource management issues and identifying and maintaining discrete roles of the commissions respective to their particular subject matter expertise and bylaws should continue to be the focus of this work. The WAC should continue to participate in the ICCWG and joint commission meetings, focus on resolving joint strategies on issues that require coordination with other commissions, reduce redundancy in effort and find synergies with these other commissions' work where possible. This will ensure that the BOS is kept apprised of significant water resource management issues in a meaningful manner that is inclusive of other related significant issues the County currently faces (fisheries conservation and recovery, climate change adaptation, etc.)